A CROSS REFERENCE TO WILLIAMS' HEBREW SYNTAX 3RD EDITION

(REVISED MAY 2009)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. SYNTAX OF THE NOMINAL	3
A. NUMBER	3
B. GENDER.	6
C. CONSTRUCT CHAIN	7
D. CASE	8
E. DIRECTIVE π_{\downarrow}	15
F. APPOSITION	15
G. HENDIADYS	16
H. ADJECTIVES	17
I. THE ARTICLE	18
J. NUMERALS	20
K. DISTRIBUTIVE	22
L. PRONOUNS	23
II. SYNTAX OF VERBS	
A. STEM (THEME)	
B. VOICE	
C. CONJUGATION (ASPECT)	32
D. VOLITIVE MOODS	39
E. VERBAL NOUNS	
F. VERBAL COORDINATION	
G. CONCORD OF SUBJECT AND VERB	
H. SYNCHRONISM (SIMULTANEOUS ACTION)	49
III. SYNTAX OF PARTICLES	
A. PREPOSITIONS	
B. ADVERBS	
C. NEGATIVES	
D. CONJUNCTIONS	
E. RELATIVE PARTICLES	
F. THE ACCUSATIVE PARTICLE אֶת־/אֵת	89
G. THE EXISTENTIAL PARTICLE ביש	90
IV. SYNTAX OF CLAUSES	
A. SUBSTANTIVAL CLAUSES	91
B. CIRCUMSTANTIAL CLAUSES	92
C. TEMPORAL CLAUSES	93
D. CONDITIONAL SENTENCES	94
E. PURPOSE CLAUSES	95
F. RESULT CLAUSES	
G. CONCESSIVE CLAUSES	96
H. CAUSAL CLAUSES	
I. RELATIVE CLAUSES	97
J. INTERROGATIVE CLAUSES	98

K. DESIRE CLAUSES	99
L. ADVERSATIVE CLAUSES	100
M. EXCEPTIVE CLAUSES	100
N. RESTRICTIVE CLAUSES	100
O. EQUATIONAL CLAUSES	101
P. EXISENTIAL CLAUSES	102
Q. WORD ORDER	102
R. ELLIPSIS	105

Key:

- Arnold, Bill T. and John H. Choi. *A Guide to Biblical Hebrew Syntax*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003. [AC]
- Joüon, Paul. *A Grammar of Biblical Hebrew*. Translated and revised by T. Muraoka. Rome: Editrice Pontificio Istituto Biblico, 2003. [J]
- Kautzsch, E., ed. *Gesenius' Hebrew Grammar*. 2nd ed. Translated and revised by A. E. Cowley. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1910. [G]
- van der Merwe, Christo H. J., Jackie A. Naude, and Jan H. Kroeze. *A Biblical Hebrew Reference Grammar*. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 1999. [V]
- Waltke, Bruce K. and Michael O'Connor. *An Introduction to Biblical Hebrew Syntax*. Winona Lake, Ind.: Eisenbrauns, 1990. [W]

I. SYNTAX OF THE NOMINAL

AC: 3

G: 32-113, 79-98, 122-39

J: 35-9, 86-101, 125-31, 134-49, 152

V: 23-37

W: 5-10, 12-19

A. NUMBER

Singular

1. To indicate countables (e.g. מְּלֶבֶּה "an altar")

V: 24.3.2(i)

W: 7.2.1a

2. To indicate collectives (e.g. עַם "people")

G: 122t, 123

J: 135b

V: 24.3.2(ii)

W: 7.2.1b-d

With class nouns and generic statements (e.g. רְּעָה צֹאֹן עֲבֶדֶיךְ "Your servants are shepherds." Gen. 47:3)

W: 7.2.2

Enumerations (e.g. אֶלֶךְ נְבֶּן "one thousand vines" Isa. 7:23)

W: 7.2.2b

Dual

4. To indicate objects which occur naturally in pairs (e.g. "finds")

G: 88e

J: 91a

V: 24.3.4

W: 7.3a, b

5. To indicate two of a kind/units of measurement and time (e.g. מאָתָים "two hundred")

G: 88e-f

J: 91ea

V: 24.3.4(ii)

W: 7.3c

As a multiplicative (e.g. שַּׁחָשׁ "twice")

G: 134r

J: 100o

Plural

```
6. To indicate plurality (e.g. מֶּלֶכִים "kings")
```

J: 136a, c

V: 24.3.3(i)

W: 7.4.1a

7. To indicate abstract ideas (e.g. בְּחוּלִים "virginity")

G: 124d, 397

J: 136g-i

W: 7.4.2

8. To indicate respect (e.g. אֱדֹנִים "master")

G: 124g, 398

J: 136d

V: 24.3.3(v-vi)

W: 7.4.3b-e

9. To indicate composition (e.g. עַפְרֹת "dust")

G: 124b, 397

J: 136b

W: 7.4.1b

10. To indicate natural products in an unnatural condition/processed/broken up

(e.g. שְׁעֹרִים vs שְׁעֹרָים "barley")

G: 124l, m, 400

J: 136b

V: 24.4.4(ii)

W: 7.4.1b

11. Plural of extension, when the object consists of several parts or is inherently large (e.g. פּנִים "face")

G: 124b-c

J: 136c

V: 24.3.3(iv)

W: 7.4.1c,e

Emphasis by repetition (e.g. וַיִּצְבָּרוּ אֹתָם חֲמָרִם "They piled them into *heaps*." Ex.

8:10)

W: 7.2.3c #12-3, 7.4.1a

Excellence or majesty, (e.g. אֱלֹהִים "God")

J: 136d, e

Intensity, (e.g. בְּהֵמוֹת "Behemoth" Job 40:15)

J: 136f, k W: 7.4.3a

Generalization, (e.g. אֶלֶךְ נָבֵּן "one thousand vines" Isa. 7:23)

J: 136j

Repeated series of actions or habitual behavior (e.g. קח־לְּךְ אֵשֶׁת זְנוּנִים "Take to yourself an adulterous wife." Hos. 1:2)

J: 136i W: 7.4.2c

Formation of Compound Plurals

12. By pluralizing the first element (e.g. 'נְבּוֹרֵי הַיִל "soldiers")

G:124p J: 136 l, m

13. By pluralizing both elements (e.g. נְבּוֹרֵי חֵילִים "valiant warriors")

G: 124q J: 1360

14. By pluralizing the second element (e.g. בֵּית אֲבוֹת "families")

G: 124r J: 136n

In a compound numerical phrase (e.g. הָמֵשׁ שָׁנִים וְשִׁבְעִים שָׁנִים "seventy-five years" Gen. 12:4)

W: 15.2.4b

Repetition

15. Distributive (e.g. יוֹם יוֹם "day after day")

G: 123c, 134q, 395

J: 135d, 142p

W: 7.2.3b, 12.5a, 15.6 a-b

V: 24.3.2(iv), 29.3(vii), 37.2.3a

16a. Emphatic (e.g. זָהֶב יָהֶב "pure gold")

G: 123e, 396

J: 135e

W: 7.2.3c, 7.4.1a, 12.5

V: 24.3.2(vi), 24.3.3(ii)

16b. Endearment (e.g. בָּנִי בְנִי "my son, my son")

B. GENDER

Masculine

17. Natural masculine gender (e.g. אֶב "father")

G: 122

J: 89a, b

V: 24.2

W: 6.1b

18. Inanimate objects or grammatical/lexical gender (e.g. "house")

J: 134e-c

W: 6.2 - 6.4a

19. Plural abstract (e.g. מיים "life")

Feminine

20. Natural feminine gender (e.g. □g. "mother")

G: 122a

J: 134b, d

21. Grammatical gender (e.g. הֶרֶב "sword")

J: 134 e, g-m

22. Body parts (e.g. רֵנֶל "foot")

G: 122h, m

J: 89c, 134j

V: 24.2.2(i)d

W: 6.4.1b

23. Countries ans cities (e.g. מְצְרֵיִם "Egypt")

G: 122h-i

J: 134g

V: 24.2.2(i)e

W: 6.4.1c

24. Abstract ideas (e.g. מֵמוּנָה "faithfulness")

G: 122p, q

J: 134e, n V: 24.2.2(ii)a

W: 6.4.2b

25. For a neuter concept (e.g. 'this')

G: 122q

J: 134n, 152a-b

W: 6.6d, 16.3.5c, 17.4.3b

26. Forming Collectives (e.g. יוֹשֶׁבֶּת "inhabitants")

G: 122s

J: 135a, b, o

V: 24.2.2(ii)b

W: 6.4.2c

27. Single component of a collective (e.g. אָנֶיָה "one ship of a fleet")

G: 122t

J: 134p

V: 24.2.2(ii)c

W: 6.4.2d

C. CONSTRUCT CHAIN

28b. Longer than two words (e.g. בֶּל־שָאַרִית שָּׁבִי מֶּלֶךְּ בָּבֶל "all of the rest of the princes of the king of Babylon" Jer. 39:3)

G: 128a

J: 129c

V: 25.1.2

W: 9.3 b-c

29a. Articular word in the construct state (rare) (e.g. בָּל־הַמַּמְלְכוֹת הָאָרֶץ "all *the* kingdoms of the earth")

G: 129 f-h

J: 140c

V: 25.3.1 (ii)

W: 9.7a, 13.6b

29b. Genitive phrase modifying a construct term (e.g. אָם יַשְלְב וְעָשֶׁו "the mother of *Jacob* and Esau" Gen. 28:5)

J: 129 a-b

V: 25.3.1(iv)b

W: 9.3b

29c. Construct override, two or more words modified by the same genitive (e.g. מַבֶּר וּלְשׁוֹן "the literature and language of the Chaldeans" Dan. 1:4)

J: 129a

V: 25.3.1(iv)a

30a. Directive ה (e.g. ביתה יוֹסף "into Joseph's house" Gen. 43:17)

G: 90c

J: 93f

W: 10.5b

30b. Broken construct chain (e.g. בֶּל־עוֹד וַבְּשִׁי בִּי "all of my life is still in me" 2 Sam. 1:9)

G: 128e

30c. With genitive prepositional phrase (e.g. מַשְׁבִּימֵי בָבֹּקֶר "early morning risers" Isa. 5:11)

G: 130a

J: 129a

V: 25.3.1(iii)b, 25.3.1(iv)c

W: 9.6b

30d. With genitive substantival clause (e.g. יְמֵי הַחְהַלֵּלְנוּ אָהָם "the time we went about with them" 1 Sam. 25:15)

G: 130d

J: 129 p-q

W: 9.6 c-e

30e. With a genitive adjective (e.g. בְּלֵי הַקְּטָן "the small vessels" Isa. 22:24)

G: 128w

W: 14.3.3 a-b

D. CASE

31. Case system

AC: 2

G: 89a, 90

J: 93b, 125-131

V: 25.1

W: 8-10

Nominative

32. Subject (e.g. זֶה הַיִּים "This is the day.")

AC: 2.1.1

V: 34.1, 34.2

```
W: 4.4, 8.3a
```

33a. Predicate nominative (e.g. יה הַיִּים "This is *the day*.")

W: 4.5c, 8.3b, 8.4

AC: 2.1.2 V: 34.3

33b. Anarthrous predicate nominative (e.g. יְהוָה הַצַּדִּיק "YHWH is the righteous one.")

J: 1371

34. Vocative (e.g. הַמֶּלֶה הַמֶּלֶה "Help, O king!")

AC: 2.1.3 V: 34.4 W: 4.7d, 8.3d

,

35. Nominative absolute or pendent nominative (e.g. הַּמְּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר־יִבְחַר יְהוָה ... שֶׁמֶּה תָבִיאוּ "the place which YHWH will choose ... you will bring there" Deut. 12:11)

AC: 2.1.4

G: 143

J: 156a, e-f, i

V: 34.5, 46.1.2(i)3

W: 4.7b-c, 8.3a

Genitive

37. Subjective (e.g. אֲהֶבֶת יְהוָה אֶחְכֶם "YHWH loved you." Deut. 7:8)

AC: 2.2.3

G: 128g, 416

J: 129d

V: 25.4.1-25.4.2, 25.4(ii)

W: 9.5.1a-e

38. Objective (e.g. חַמַס אַחִיך "the violence done to your brother" Obad. 10)

AC: 2.2.4

G: 128h, 416

J: 128e, 129e

V: 25.4.2(iii)

W: 9.5.2b, d-e

39. Possessive (e.g. בֵּית הַמֶּלֶך "the king's house")

AC: 2.2.1, 2.2.2

J: 129d

V: 25.4.1

W: 9.5.1 g, h

```
40a. Material/Substance (e.g. בֶּלֵי בֶּסֶף "silver vessels")
       AC: 2.2.10
       G: 1280
       J: 129f (5)
       V: 25.4.6
       W: 9.5.3d
40b. Enumerated (e.g. שֶׁלֹשֶׁת יָמִים "three davs")
       AC: 2.2.11
       J: 129f
       W: 9.3.5f
41. Attributive, where English would employ an adjective (e.g. מאני צַרַק "honest scales,"
   lit. "scales of justness")
       AC: 2.2.5
       G: 128p, 135n
       J: 129f
       V: 25.3.1(iv)d, 25.4.4(v)
       W: 9.5.3a-b
42a. Appositional/Genitive of association (e.g. אַרִים "the land Egypt")
       AC: 2.2.12
       G: 128k-o
       J: 129f (c)
       V: 25.4.4(iv)
       W: 9.5.3h
42b. Appositional adjective (e.g. בְּשָׁנֵת הַהְּשִּׁיעִית "in the ninth year")
       AC: 2.5.3
       G: 128w
43. Explicative/Genitive of species (e.g. עצי שפים "acacia wood")
       AC: 2.2.12
       G: 128m
       V: 25.4.4(iii)
       W: 9.5.3g
44a. Result (e.g. מוסר שלומנו "chastisement that brings us peace" Isa. 53:5)
       AC: 2.2.8
       G: 128q, 417
       W: 9.5.2c
```

44b. Purpose (e.g. מוסר שלומנו "chastisement to brings us peace" Isa. 53:5)

```
AC: 2.2.8
       G: 128q
       J: 129f
       V: 25.4.5(i)
45a. Agent (animate) after the bound form of a passive participle (e.g. מֶבֶה אֱלֹהִים "smitten
     by God" Isa. 53:4)
       AC: 2.2.9
       G: 116e, 359
       J: 121p
       V: 25.4.2
       W: 9.5.1b,d
45b. Means/Instrument (e.g. שֶׁרֶבּוֹת אָשׁ "burned by fire" Isa. 1:7)
       AC: 2.2.9
       J: 121p
       V: 25.4.5(iv)
       W: 9.5.1d
46. Epexegetical/Specification (e.g. עָם־קְשֵה־עֹרֶף "stiff-necked people")
       AC: 2.2.6
       J: 129i-ia
       V: 25.4.6(iii)
       W: 9.5.3c
47. Superlative (e.g. שִׁיר הַשִּׁירִים "the best song" Song. 1:1)
       AC: 2.2.13
       G: 133g, i, 431
       J: 129f (8), 129k, 1411-m
       V: 25.4.3(ii), 30.5.2(ii)d
       W: 9.5.3j, 14.5b, d
48a. Measure (e.g. מֶר מְתְנֵיִם "water that was waist deep" Ezek. 47:4)
       AC: 2.2.11
       G: 128n
       J: 129f
       W: 9.5.3f
48b. Number (e.g. בְּשָׁנֵת שָׁחֵים "in the second year" 1 Kgs. 15:25)
       G: 128n
49. Dependent, as the object of a preposition (e.g. in him' Ps. 2:12)
```

J: 129m W: 9.6

```
Cause/Effect (e.g. רוּחַ חָכְמָה וּבִינָה "the spirit of wisdom and understanding" lit. "the spirit
that causes wisdom and understanding" Isa. 11:2)
        AC: 2.2.7
       W: 9.5.2c
Location (e.g. ישֶׁבֵי נְבְעוֹן "those living in Gibeon" Josh. 9:3)
         W: 9.5.2f
Partitive genitive (e.g. מַצִּי הַדָּם "half of the blood" Ex. 24:6)
       G: 128i
       J: 129f(8)
       W: 9.5.1k
Relation (e.g. עֶבֶּר־יְהוָה "in the second year" 1 Kgs. 15:25)
        W: 9.5.1i
Temporal genitive (e.g. a day of terror) (e.g. מהומה "day of tumult" Isa. 22:5)
       W: 9.5.1f
Topical genitive (e.g. מָשֵׁא בָּבֶל "oracle about Babylon" Isa. 13:1)
        W: 9.5.3e
Accusative
50. Direct object of a verb (e.g. יַיִּבְרָא אֱלֹהִים אֶת־הָאָדָם "God created mankind." Gen. 1:27)
       AC: 2.3.1a
       G: 117a
       J: 125a-b
       W: 10.2.1
       V: 33.2.1
51. Cognate Accusative (e.g. בְּחֲדוּ פַּחֲדוּ "They were in sheer terror." Ps. 14:5)
       AC: 2.3.1c
       G: 117p-r
       J: 125q-r
       V: 33.2.1(i)c, 33.3(v)
       W: 10.2.1 f-g
52. Product or Result (e.g. פִּי־חָדֹּר נֵבֶר "if you vow a vow" Deut. 23:22)
       AC: 2.3.1b, 2.3.2g
       G: 117ii
       J: 125p
       V: 33.2.1(i)b
```

```
W: 10.2.1f
```

53. Material (e.g. אֶת־הַאָּרֶם עָבָּר "the man of dust" Gen. 2:7)

AC: 2.3.2f G: 117hh J: 125v

W: 10.2.3 c-e V: 33.3(iv)

54a. Directive or terminative, after verbs of motion (e.g. צא הַשְּׂבֶה "Go out to the field."

Gen. 27:3)

AC: 2.3.2(a)

G: 118 d, f

J: 125n

V: 33.2.3(ii)

W: 10.2.2b #8-17

54b. Place (e.g. לְשֶׁבֶּח בְּיִת "so that it may dwell *in a temple*" Isa. 44:13)

AC: 2.3.2a

G: 118g

J: 133c

V: 33.2.3(i)

W: 10.2.2b

55. Separative (e.g. בָּנִי יָצָאָנִי "My sons have gone from me." Jer. 10:20)

J: 125n

V: 33.2.3(ii)

W: 10.2.2b

56a. Temporal-duration, answers the question 'for how long?' (e.g. יְּשֶׁחֵים שָׁנִים מֶּלֶּךְ "And he reigned *for two years.*" 2 Sam. 2:10)

AC: 2.3.2b

G: 118k

J: 126i

V: 33.3(i)b

W: 10.2.2c

56b. Temporal-point, answers the question 'when?' (e.g. בֶּלְהַח ... לֵאמֹר בֹּקֶר "He spoke to Korah ... saying, 'In the morning' "Ps. 14:5)

AC: 2.3.2b

G: 118i

J: 126i

V: 33.3(i)a

W: 10.2.2c

57a. Specification, describes a feature of a noun in the absolute state with an indefinite accusative (e.g. הְלָהוֹ אֶת־רַגְלָיו "He was diseased *in his feet*." 1 Kgs. 15:23)

AC: 2.3.2e G: 117ll

J: 125j, 126g, 127b

V: 33.3(iii)

W: 10.2.2e #38-43

57b. Predicate (e.g. אָהֶדְּ צַבְּיקִי צִבְּיק "I have seen you to be righteous." Gen. 7:1)

G: 117h J: 126 a-c W: 10.2.3c

58. Emphatic of specification, the accusative precedes the verb, is the logical subject of the verb, and is preceded by the accusative particle אֶת־/אֵת (e.g. אֶת־הַבַּרְיֶל נְבַּל "The iron fell." 2 Kgs. 6:5)

G: 117 h-i V: 33.4.2(vii)

W: 10.3.2

59. Determinative, if it follows a verb, is the logical subject of the verb, and is preceded by the accusative particle אֶח־/אֵח (e.g. נְיָנֶדְ לְרָבְקָה אֶח־דְּבְרֵי עֵשֶׁו "Esau's words were told to Rebekah." Gen. 27:42)

G: 117 i-m

J: 128b

V: 33.4.2(vii)

W: 10.3.2, 23.2.2e

60. Manner/Adverbial accusative (e.g. מַשְׁבוּ בֶּטָה "You lived securely." 1 Sam 12:11)

AC: 2.3.2c

G: 118 m-q

J: 126

W: 10.2.2

Double Accusative, with verbs that are doubly or complexly transitive (e.g. יַשְאָלוֹנִי "They ask $me \mid for \text{ just } decisions$." Isa. 58:2)

AC: 2.3.1e

G: 117cc-ll

J: 125u-x

W: 10.2.3

E. DIRECTIVE 7

62. Directive ה (e.g. הַשְּׁמֵימָה "look at the heavens!" Gen. 15:5)

G: 90c

J: 93c-f

V: 28

W: 10.5a-b

63. Temporal הַ (e.g. מִימְה "from year to year" lit. "from days toward days")

G: 90h

J: 93d

W: 10.5c

64a. Separative הְּנְפוֹנְה (e.g. מָצְפוֹנְה "from the north" Josh. 15:10)

G: 90e

J: 93f

W: 10.5b

64b. Locative הְ (e.g. יְנֵשֶׁב דְּוִד בַּחֹרְשָׁה "David remained at Horesh" 1 Sam. 23:18)

G: 90d

J: 93e

W: 10.5.b #5-6

F. APPOSITION

65. Genus-species, provides further information about the subclass to which the lead word belongs (e.g. אָּשֶׁה אָּלְמְנָה "a widow" 1 Kgs. 7:14)

AC: 2.4.1

G: 131b

J: 131b

V: 29.3(ii)

W: 12.3b, 13.8b

66. Attributive, refers to a quality or character of the lead word (e.g. אֲמָרִים אֱמֶה "true words" Prov. 22:21)

AC: 2.4.2

G: 131c

J: 131c

V: 29.3(iii)

W: 12.3c

67. Predicate, the first term acts as a predicate adjective (e.g. אָמֶת הַנֶּה הַדֶּבֶּר "The report

```
true." 1 Kgs. 10:6)
68. Material (e.g. הַנְּקֶר הַנְּחֹשֶׁת "the bronze oxen" 2 Kgs. 16:17)
        AC: 2.4.3
       G: 131d
       J: 131d-e
        V: 29.3(iv)
       W: 12.3c-d
69a. Measure (e.g. מִים בַּרְכַּיִם "knee-deep water" Ezek. 47:4)
        AC: 2.4.4
       G: 131e
        V: 29.3(v)
        W: 12.3d
69b. Number (e.g. יְמִים מְסָבֶּר "few days" Num. 9:20)
        AC: 2.4.4
       G: 131e
       J: 131f
       V: 29.3(v)
       W: 12.3d
70. Explicative, giving the name, title, office, or relationship (e.g. הָאֶרֶץ בְּנָעֵן "the land of
    Canaan" Num. 34:2)
       G: 131f-g
       J: 131h-k
       V: 29.3(i)
        W: 12.3e
71. Anticipative, with prepositions or אָת־הַיֵּלֶד (e.g. וְהָרְאָהוּ אָת־הַיֵּלֶד "She saw the child." Ex. 2:6)
       G: 131k-o
       J: 146d
       V: 29.3(vii)
        W: 12.3f, 12.4
Repetitive Apposition (e.g. אָנִי אָבִיךְ "I am God, the god of your forebear." Gen.
46:3)
       G: 131h
```

G. HENDIADYS

W: 12.5

72. A single concept expressed by two words linked by the conjunction (e.g. מהה וַבהוּ "a

```
formless void" Gen. 1:2)
       J: 104d
       W: 39.2.5
H. ADJECTIVES
73. Attributive (e.g. אֱלֹהִים הַי "the living God" 2 Kgs. 19:4)
       AC: 2.5.1
       G: 132a
       J: 87c, 141 a,b, 148 a,c,d
       V: 30.2
       W: 14.3.1
74a. Demonstrative (e.g. בְּלֵילֵה הוא "on that night")
       AC: 2.5.3
       J: 143 h-i, 149d
       V: 36.2.2(ii), 36.2.3
       W: 14.3.1a #2, 17.4.1
74b. Demonstrative in attributive apposition (e.g. אהתי אַלָה "these, miraculous signs of
     mine" Ex. 10:1)
       J: 138f
       W: 17.4.1
75. Predicate adjective (e.g. רְבִּים רְחָמִיו "His mercy is great." 1 Chr. 21:13)
       AC: 2.5.2, 5.1.1b
       J: 148b
       V: 30.3
       W: 4.5c, 13.8c, 14.3.2
76. Comparison expressed by מָן (e.g. נְבֹהַ מָכָל־הַעָּם "He was taller than all the people." 1
    Sam. 9:2)
       AC: 2.5.4a
       G: 119w, 131 a-f, 133c
```

J: 141 g-i V: 30.5.1, 39.14.8

W: 11.2.11e, 14.4, 24.2h

77a. Attributive adjective with article as superlative (e.g. הַקְּשָׁן בְּנוֹ "his youngest son" Gen. 9:24)

AC: 2.5.4b G: 133g J: 141j

V: 24.4.3(iii), 30.5.2(ii)a

```
W: 14.5c
```

77b. Predicate adjective with article as superlative (e.g. אָהֶם הַמְּעַה "You are the least."

Deut. 7:7)

J: 1371, 141j

V: 24.4.43(iii), 30.5.2(ii)a

W: 13.5.2d

78. Superlative formed with an adjective in construct (e.g. "קשֹן בְּנֶינ" "the youngest of his sons" 2 Chr. 21:17)

AC: 2.5.4b

G: 133 g-i

J: 141e

V: 30.5.2(ii)b,d

W: 14.3.3b, 14.5c #31-35

79. Superlative using a pronominal suffix or definite genitive (e.g. מוֹבָם "the best of them"

Mic. 7:4)

AC: 2.5.4b

J: 141j

V: 30.5.2(ii)b

W:14.5 c, e

80. Superlative genitive/absolute superlative (e.g. עבר עברים "an abject slave" Gen. 9:25)

AC: 2.5.4b

J: 142m, n

W: 14.5b, d

81. Superlative using divine or royal epithet (e.g. אָרְיֵיאֶל "highest cedars" Ps. 80:11)

AC: 2.2.13 note 19

J: 141n

V: 30.5.2(i)d

W: 9.5.3j note 33, 14.5b #15-20

Substantive use (e.g. הַבְּמִים "wise men" Job 5:13)

AC: 2.5.3

W: 14.3.3

I. THE ARTICLE

82a. Indicate definiteness (e.g. הַעִּיר "the city")

AC: 2.6.1

G: 126

J: 35, 137

```
V: 24.4
```

W: 13.2-13.3, 13.5-13.7

83. Anaphoric use, when the person or object is previously mentioned (e.g. וַיֹּאמֶד אֱלֹהִים יהָיאוֹר ... וַיִּרָא אֱלֹהִים אֱת־הָאוֹר "and God said, 'Let there be light.'... and God saw the *light*" Gen. 1:3-4)

AC: 2.6.1

J: 137f

V: 24.4.4(ii)b

W: 13.5.1d

84. The article is employed when the object or person is definite in the mind of the narrator, though such words are indefinite in English. (e.g. בַּסְבֶּר "on the scroll" 1 Sam. 10:25)

G: 126q-t

J: 137m (frequent)

W: 13.5.1e #14-18

85. Designating a well known person or thing (e.g. לְבַנֵי הַרַעַשׁ" before the earthquake" Amos 1:1)

AC: 2.6.1

G: 126d

V: 24.4.4(ii)a, e

W: 13.5.1c

86. Possessive, equivalent to a pronominal suffix (e.g. הַצְּעִיךְ "she took her veil" Gen. 24:65)

AC: 2.6.7

J: 137f (2)

W: 13.5.1e #11-13

87. Demonstrative (e.g. הַפַּעָם "this time" Gen. 2:23)

AC: 2.6.6

G: 126a-b

J: 137f (1)

V: 24.4.4i

W: 13.5.2b

88. Distinctive, elevates the noun and article to the equivalent of a proper name (e.g. הַּנָּהָר "the Euphrates" Gen. 31:21)

AC: 2.6.3, 2.6.4

G: 126d, e

J: 137h

V: 24.4.4(ii)e

W: 13.5.1a,b,c; 13.6a

```
89. Vocative (e.g. אָדֹנִי הַמֵּלֵךְ "my lord, O king" 1 Sam. 24:9)
       AC: 2.6.2
       G: 126d-f
       J: 137g
       V: 24.4.3(i)
       W: 13.5.2c
90. Relative, with participles (e.g. יְהֵוֶה הַוֹּרְאֵה "YHWH, who appeared" Gen. 12:7)
       AC: 5.2.13a
       G: 138i-k
       J: 145d, e
       V: 24.4.3(ii)b, 36.3.4
       W: 13.5.2d, 19.7b, 37.5
91. Relative, with a finite verb (e.g. הַהַלְּכוֹא אָהוֹ "who had accompanied him" Josh. 10:24)
       G: 138i-k
       J: 145d-e
       V: 24.4.3(ii)a, 36.3.4
       W: 13.5.2d #24-26, 19.7 c-d
92. Generic, to express classes, this is the normal use in comparisons (e.g. "the
    Canaanite" Judg. 1:1)
       AC: 2.6.5
       G: 126l, n, p
       J: 137c, i
       V: 24.4.4(ii)d
       W: 7.2.2a, 13.5.1f
93. Superlative (e.g. הַמְעַם "the least" Deut. 7:7)
       G: 133g
       J: 141j
       W: 13.5.2d #22-23
J. NUMERALS
Cardinal
94. "One" (adjective) (e.g. אָישׁ אֶחֶד "one man" Judg. 18:19)
       AC: 2.7.1b
       G: 97a
       J: 100b, 137 u, v, 142b-ba, m
       V: 27.2.2(i)
```

```
W: 13.8a, 15.2.1 a-g, 15.2.6
95a. "Two" (e.g. שָׁנֵי אַנִשִּׁים "two men" 2 Sam 4:2)
       G: 134a-e
       J: 100c, 142c, 1
       V: 37.2.2(ii)
       W: 15.2.1h-j
95b. "Three" through "ten" (e.g. וְחַמְשֶׁה אֲנָשִׁים "and five men" 2 Kgs. 25:19)
       G: 97a-b, 134a-e
       J: 100d, 142d, 1
       V: 37.2.2(iii)
       W: 15.2.2, 15.2.6
96a. "Eleven" through "nineteen" (e.g. שָׁנֵים הֶעָשֶׂר אִישׁ "the twelve men" Josh. 4:4)
       G: 97 d, e
       J: 100 e-h; 142 e, 1
       V: 37.2.2(iv)
       W: 15.2.3, 15.2.6
96b. Multiples of ten (e.g. אַרְבָּעִים בָּנִים "forty sons" Judg. 12:14)
       G: 97f-g, 134g
       J: 100i, k-l, 142f-g, i-j
       V: 37.2.2(v)
       W: 15.2.4-15.2.6
97. Multiples of ten plus units (e.g. שָׁהַים וְשִׁשִּׁים "sixty-two years" Gen. 5:20)
       G: 97f, 134 h-i
       J: 100j, m, 142h, k-l
       V: 37.2.2(v)
       W: 15.2.4, 15.2.6
Ordinal
98a. Ordinal Numbers, "First" to "tenth" (e.g. יוֹם הַשְּׁבֵישִי "the seventh day" Deut. 5:14)
        AC: 2.7.2
       G: 98, 134p
       J: 101a, 142o
       V: 37.3.2
       W: 15.3.1a
98b. "First" through "tenth" using cardinal numbers (e.g. בַּשָׁבֶּת שָׁהָּנֶם "in the second year" 2
     Kgs. 15:32)
       AC: 2.7.1(e)
```

```
G: 134p
       J: 1420
99. Ordinal Numbers, "eleventh, etc." (e.g. הַשָּׁנֵים עָטֶּר "the twelfth" 1 Chr. 25:19)
       AC: 2.7.2
       G: 123c, 134o
       J: 101, 142o
       W: 15.3.1 #6-8
Multiplicative (e.g. שֵׁנֵים יַשֶּׁלֵּם "He must pay back double." Ex. 22:3)
       AC: 2.7.1c
       J: 142a
       W: 15.4
Fractions (e.g. הַעָּם "Half the people." 1 Kgs. 16:21)
       G: 134r
       J: 101b
       W: 15.5
K. DISTRIBUTIVE
100. Simple repetition (e.g. שָׁנֵיֶם שָׁנֵיֶם "two by two" Gen. 7:9)
       AC: 2.7.1d
       J: 142p
       W: 15.6
101. Repetition with the conjunction (e.g. דוֹר וְדוֹר "every generation" Deut. 32:7)
       AC: 2.7.1d
       J: 135d, 142p
       W: 7.2.3b
102. Repetition with the preposition בְּחָרֶר בְּחָדֶר "room by room" 1 Kgs. 20:30)
       AC: 2.7.1d
       G: 123c
       V: 24.3.2(iv)
       W: 7.2.3b, 11.2.5f, 15.6a
103. Repetition employing the preposition (e.g. לָמֵאוֹת וַלָאֵלְבִּים "by hundreds and
     thousands" 1 Sam. 29:2)
       AC: 2.7.1d
```

G: 123c, 134q

V: 37.2.3(v)c, 39.11.I.4

J: 142p

```
W: 7.2.3b, 11.2.10c, 15.6 a, b, 15.6b
```

104. Universal expressions (e.g. וְחֹמְכֶּיהְ "everyone who holds" Prov. 3:18)

W: 15.6c

105. Using פֿל to signify an aggregate or totality (e.g. הָבֶּיִת "Every house is barred." Isa. 24:10)

J: 147e

W: 15.6c #11-12

L. PRONOUNS

Independent Personal

106. As the subject of a finite verb (e.g. וְאַהָּה הִּמְשֶׁלֹּבוֹ "But you are the one who must master it" Gen. 4:7)

G: 32b, 135a-c

J: 39, 146a-c

V: 36.1.I

W: 16.3.1-16.3.2

107a. In apposition to a pronominal suffix (e.g. בֶּרֶכֵנִי נַם־אָנִי "Bless me, even me also!"

Gen. 27:34)

G: 135d-h

J: 146d

W: 4.4.1a, 16.3.4

107b. As a nominative absolute (e.g. אָנֹכִי חָלִילְה לִּי "as for me, far be it from me" 1 Sam.

19:23)

J: 146e

W: 4.7c

108a. As the subject of a participle or non-verbal clause (e.g. אָלֹכִי מְצַוֹּךְ "I am commanding you." Deut. 8:1)

V: 36.1.I.2(i)

W: 16.3.1a, 16.3.3

108b. As the subject of a verbless clause (e.g. אָהֶם עִם־קְשֵׁה־עֹרֶךְ "You are a stiff-necked people." Ex. 33:5)

V: 36.1.I.2(i)

Pronoun in explicit or implicit antithesis with another (e.g. אַהָּה הְשׁוּפָנּי "He will crush your head, but you will crush his heel." Gen. 3:15)

J: 146a(1) W: 16.3.2d

Psychological focus, mostly in the first person (e.g. וַאָנִי נָסַכְהֵי מַלְכִּי "I installed my king." Ps. 2:6)

J: 146a(4) W: 16.3.2e

Suffixed Personal

109. Subjective (e.g. אַכַּלְכָם "your eating" Gen. 3:5)

J: 65a

V: 36.1.III.2(i)

W: 16.4 a-d

110. Objective (e.g. הַמְּסִי "the wrong done to me" Gen. 16:5)

G: 33b, 61a

J: 61a, 65a

V: 36.1.III.2(ii)

W: 16.4f

111. Possessive (e.g. בְּרִיתִי "my covenant" Gen. 6:18)

G: 33c, 135m

V: 36.1.III.2(iv)

W: 16.4d #13-16; 16.4e

112. After prepositions (e.g. לֶּהֶם "to them" Gen. 1:28)

G: 33d-e, 135i

J: 103e-n

V: 39.1.1

W: 11, 16.4d

Demonstrative

113. Cataphoric, backward reference (e.g. אָשֶׁר אֹמֶר אֶלֶיף זֶה וֵלֵךְ אָתָּךְ הוּא יֵלֵךְ אִתָּךְ "The one of whom I say to you, '*This one* shall go with you,' *that one* will go with you." Judg. 4:7)

Anaphoric, forward reference (e.g. אֶלֶה בְּנֵי־אָצֶר בְּלְהָן "These are the sons of Ezer:

Bilhan...." Gen. 36:27)

G: 126a-b

J: 143b

W: 17.3d, 17.4.2e

114. Explicative, as the subject of a non-verbal clause (e.g. מָה הַיִּים "this is the day" Judg.

4:14)

V: 36.2.2(ii)c

W: 17.3b, 17.4.2-17.4.3b

115. (e.g. אַהָּה־הוּא הָאֱלֹהִים "you are God" 2 Sam. 7:28)

J: 154i-ja

V: 36.1.2(iii)

W: 8.4.1b, 16.3.3

116. Antithetical, when repeated to express a contrast (e.g. יְקְרָא זֶה אֶל־זֶה "and the one called out to the other" Isa. 6:3)

W: 17.3c, 17.4.2d

117. Adjectival (e.g. הַבְּבֶרִים הַאָּלֵה "these words" 1 Sam. 18:23)

W: 17.4.1a, 17.3c

118. Enclitic, found with exclamatory questions for emphasis (e.g. עַהָּה שַׁבְנוּ זֶה פַּעָמָיִם "by now *indeed* we could have returned twice" Gen. 43:10)

G: 136c-d

J: 143f

V: 36.2.2(vi)

W: 17.4.3c

<u>Interrogative</u>

120. מִי - Interrogative, including the rhetorical use, meaning "who?" (e.g. מִי הַנִּיד לְּךְּ "who told you?" Gen. 3:11)

AC: 5.3.1c

G: 137 a-b

J: 144a, b

V: 43.3.1 (i-iii)

W: 18.1e #22-25, 18.2a-d, g

121. מִי לִיהוָה אָּלִי - Indefinite, meaning "whoever" (e.g. מִי לֵיהוָה אָּלִי "Whoever is for YHWH, come to me!" Ex. 32:26)

G: 137c

J: 144 f-fa

V: 43.3.1(vi)

W: 18.2e

122. בְּי - Desiderative or optative, meaning "if only" (e.g. מְּרַיְתֵּן מִּתְּנֵּוּ "Would that we had died!" Ex. 16:3)

AC: 5.3.3(b)

J: 163d

```
V: 43.3.1(iv)
W: 18.2f
```

- 123. Adverbial, meaning "how?" (e.g. מִי יָקוּם וַשֲלְב "How can Jacob stand?" Am. 7:2) W: 18.4d
- 124. Particle מָה Interrogative, meaning "what?" (e.g. מֶה עָשִיתָ, "What did you do?" Gen. 4:10)

AC: 5.3.1c J: 144c-d

V: 43.3.2(i)

W: 18.3a-b

125. Particle הָה - Indefinite, meaning "whatever" (e.g. יְּדְבֵּר מַה־יַּרְאֵנִי "and whatever thing he shows me?" Num. 23:3)

G: 137c

J: 144f-fa

V: 43.3.2(v)

W: 18.3e

126. Particle הָה - Adverbial, meaning "how?, why?" (e.g. מָה־אוֹחִיל לַיהוָה עוֹד "Why should I wait for YHWH any longer?" 2 Kgs. 6:33)

J: 144e

V: 43.3.2(ii)

W: 18.3 b-c, f #43-46

127. Particle הָּה - Exclamatory, meaning "how!" (e.g. מָה־פֹבוּ אֹהֶלֶיךָ "How beautiful are your tents!" Num. 24:5)

J: 144e, 162a

W:18.3f

V: 43.3.2(iv)

128. בְּהֶר - Rhetorical (e.g. מָה־לְּנוּ חֵלֶּק בַּדְוִד וְלֹא־נַחֲלֶה בְּבֶּן־יִשֵׁי "What portion have we (or we have no portion) in David? We have no inheritance in Jesse's son!" 1 Kgs. 12:16)

G: 137b note 1

J: 144h

V: 43.3.2(iii)

W: 18.3g

Particle אֵי Locative, meaning "where?"

W: 18.4a-c

Particle מָּה with prepositions לָמָה, meaning "why?" sometimes with זַּה, meaning "why?"

W: 18.3c

Relative

129a. Pronouns זה, זה, (e.g. עַם־זוּ נָאָלְהָּ "the people whom you redeemed" Ex. 15:13)

AC: 5.2.13a

G: 138g-h

J: 38, 145c

V: 36.2.2(iii), 36.3.3

W: 19.2d, 19.5

129b. Particle שָׁ, meaning "who, which, that" (e.g. בַּחוֹל שֶׁעֵל־שְׁבֶּת הַיָּם "as the sand *that* is on the seashore" Judg. 7:12)

J: 38, 145b

W: 19.4

129c. Particle אָשֶׁר, meaning "who, which, that" (e.g. מְלַאּכְחוֹ אֲשֶׁר שָשֶׁה "his work, which he had done" Gen. 2:2)

J: 38, 145b

W: 19.3

Reflexive

130. Suffixed pronouns, meaning "-self" (e.g. נְשָׁבַּשְׁתָּ לְּהֶם בָּןְּ "You swore to them by yourself" Ex. 32:13)

AC: 119s, 135 i-l

J: 146k

W: 16.4g

Also see *Niphal* and *Hithpael*.

Distributive

131. To express "each" (e.g. בָּל־הָעַמִּים יֵלְכוּ אִישׁ בְּשֵׁם אֱלֹהָיו "all the peoples walk, each in the name of his god" Mic. 4:5)

AC: 119s, 135i-l

J: 146k

W: 16.4g

Reciprocal

132. To express "each other" (e.g. וְקְרֵא זֶה אֶּלֹ־יֶה "and they called out to *each other*" Isa. 6:3)

V: 36.2.2(iv)

II. SYNTAX OF VERBS

A. STEM (THEME)

```
<u>Qal</u>
133. Stative (e.g. ซา๋ฮ "he is heavy")
       AC: 3.1.1b
       J: 40b, 41b-d, f
       V: 16.2.2(ii)
       W: 20.2k, 22.2, 22.2.3; 22.4b-e, 22.5
134. Fientive (e.g. נַתַּן "he gives")
       AC: 3.1.1a
       J: 40b, 41a
       V: 16.2.2(i)
        W: 20.2k, 22.2.1, 22.2.3, 22.4a, 22.5
<u>Niphal</u>
135. Reflexive (e.g. יִשְׁמֶר "he guards himself")
       AC: 3.1.2
       G: 51c, e, 137
       J: 52c
       V: 16.3.2(ii)
       W: 23.4b, h, 23.6.2
136. Middle (e.g. יְשָׁאֵל "he asks for himself" 1 Sam. 20:6)
       AC: 3.1.2c
       G: 51e
       J: 51c
       V: 16.3.2(ii)
       W: 23.2.1, 23.4d, h
137. Reciprocal (e.g. יְּחֶר יְחֵר "Let us fight with one another." 1 Sam. 17:10)
       AC: 3.1.2c
       G: 51d
       J: 51c
       V: 16.3.2 ii
       W: 23.4e
```

138. Tolerative (e.g. בַּרָב" "Let himself be consulted." Ezek. 14:3)

AC: 3.1.2c

G: 51c J: 51c

W: 23.4f-g

139. Passive (e.g. נוֹלֵה "He is born.")

AC: 3.1.2a G: 51f-h

J: 51c

V: 16.3.2(i), 16.5.2(ii)

W: 23.2

Piel and Pual

AC: 3.1.3-3.1.4

G: 52

J: 52, 56

V: 16.4-16.5

W: 24

141. Factitive (e.g. מֶלֵּא "he filled")

AC: 3.1.3a, 3.1.4a

G: 52g

J: 52d, 56c

V: 16.4.2(i), 16.7.2(iii)(1-2)

W: 20.2m, 24.2, 25.2

142. Causative, not a common use (e.g. לְּמֶּר "he taught")

G: 52g

J: 52d note 3

W: 20.2m

143. Iterative, plurative, frequentative (e.g. שַּבֶּש "he searched *repeatedly*")

AC: 3.1.3c, 3.1.4c

G: 52f

J: 52d, 56c

W: 24.3.3, 24.5, 25.3c, 25.5a

144. Denominative (e.g. מֵיהֵשׁ "he uprooted")

AC: 3.1.3b; 3.1.4b

G: 52h

J: 52d, 56c

W: 24.4, 25.4

145. Delocutive/Declarative (e.g. אָשֶׁר "he pronounced someone to be happy")

```
AC: 3.1.3d, 3.1.4d
       G: 52g
       J: 52d, 56c
       W: 20.2m, 24.2f, 25.2b
146. Privative (e.g. הְּמֵא "he purified from sin")
       G: 52h
       J: 52d, 56c
       W: 24.1h, 24.4f
Hiphil and Hophal
       AC: 3.1.6-3.1.7
       G: 53
       J: 54, 57
       V: 16.7-16.8
       W: 27-8
147. Causative (e.g. הַרְאָה "he showed")
       AC: 3.1.6a, 3.1.7a
       G: 53c
       J: 54d, 57c
       V: 16.7.2, 16.8.2
       W: 27-8
148. Delocutive/Declarative (e.g. הְצַדֵּיק "he justified")
       AC: 3.1.6c
       G: 53c
       J: 54d
       W: 27.2e
149. Factitive (e.g. הֵּלְאֵה "lit. he caused someone to be weary")
       J: 54d
       W: 27.2
150. Intransitive, indicates the entry into and remaining in a state or condition (e.g. יַיָּקִין
```

"it grows old" Job 14:8)

AC: 3.1.6b, 3.1.7b

G: 53e

J: 54d

W: 27.2f-g

151. Denominative (e.g. יַשֶׁרֵשׁ "he will take root" Isa. 27:6)

AC: 3.1.6d, 3.1.7c

```
G: 53g
       J: 54d
       W: 27.4a-b, 28.4
<u>Hithpael</u>
       AC: 3.1.5
       G: 54
       J: 53
       V: 16.6
       W: 26
152. Reflexive-iterative (e.g. הְחָחֶבְאוּ "they have been hiding themselves" 1 Sam. 14:11)
       AC: 3.1.5a
       G: 54d
       J: 53i
       W: 26.1.2b-d
153. Reciprocal-iterative (e.g. מְּחָרָאוּ "you are looking at one another" Gen. 42:1)
       AC: 3.1.5b
       G: 54f, 150
       W. 26.2g
154. Reflexive-factitive (e.g. 'הַנְּבֶּל' "he will magnify/aggrandize himself" Dan. 11:36)
       G: 54d
       W: 26.2b, d
155. Reflexive-estimative (e.g. הְשֶׁהְבֶר " you will regard yourself as a prince" Num.
     16:13)
       G: 54d
       J: 53i
       W: 26.2f, 26.4a
Passive
       W: 26.1.1a, d, 26.1.3b, 26.2b, 26.3
Privative
       J: 53i
Hishtaphael
       W: 21.2.3d
```

Rare Conjugations

J: 59a-h

B. VOICE

Active

157. Expressed by the *Qal*, *Piel*, and *Hiphil* stems

W: 20.1d, 20.2j-k, m W: 22.2b, 22.2.1a

Middle

158. Middle, expressed by Niphal

J: 51c

W: 20.2j, 21.1a-b, 23.1e, h, 23.2.1, 23.2.2d, 23.3c, 23.6.1

Expressed by *Hithpael*

J: 53i

Passive

159. Qal (e.g. אָן "let it be given" Num. 32:5)

May be expressed as Qal passive participle, Niphal, Pual, or Hophal

C. CONJUGATION (ASPECT)

Perfect

- 160. Impersonal third person (e.g. קֶרֵא שְׁמְהּ בָּבֶל "Its name *is called* Babel." Gen. 11:9) G: 144b-i
- 161. Stative, expressing a state or condition, primary meaning is the present (e.g. וְאָנִי זָכְוְהֵי "I am old and gray." 1 Sam. 12:2)

AC: 3.2.1b

G: 106g

J: 112a-b

V: 19.2.2

W: 30.2.3, 30.5.3

162. Completed action, either in reality or in the thought of the speaker

AC: 3.2.1a

1. a past tense (e.g. בָּרָה אֱלֹהִים "God created" Gen. 1:1)

G: 106d, 162-1

J: 112c-i V: 19.2.1

W: 29.6, 30.1b,d, 30.3; 30.5.2

2. a perfect tense with "have" denoting action completed in the past but continuing in its effects into the present (e.g. שֶׁבֶּה אֱלֹ הַסְתִּיר פְּנְיוּ "God has forgotten, he has hidden his face." Ps. 10:11)

G: 106g, 311

J: 111e, 112e

W: 30.5.1c

3. a pluperfect tense to indicate action anterior to the accompanying verb (e.g. נְבֶחֶם "Rachael *had stolen* them." Gen. 31:32)

G: 106f

J: 112c

W: 30.5.2a-b #1-5

4. a future perfect tense (e.g. אָשֶׁר נְחַן־לְּוֹץ ... הָאָבֶרץ "the land ... which he will have given you" Deut. 8:10)

G: 106g, 311

J: 112i

W: 30.5.2b #6-8

163. Experience, when a fientive verb expresses a state of mind and physical state (e.g. "*Amos 5:21) (I despise*" Amos 5:21)

AC: 3.2.1c

J: 112a

164. Instantaneous action, expressing an act in the present which by that very act is completed (e.g. הַּיִּוֹם הַיִּוֹם "I testify against you today." Deut. 8:19)

AC: 3.2.1f

J: 112f

V: 19.2.3

W: 30.5.1d

165. Certitude (the so-called "prophetic perfect" or "perfective of confidence"), expressing a vivid future when the action is deemed "as good as done" (e.g. מָאַסְתִּי "My people will go into exile." Isa. 5:13)

AC: 3.2.1d

G: 106m-n

J: 112h

V: 19.2.5

W: 30.5.1e

```
(e.g. לּבְּאָרִץ "if only we had died in the land" Num. 14:2)
       G: 106p
       J: 167g-i
       V: 19.2.1iii
       W: 30.5.4
Gnomic - expected, habitual, customary action under the same circumstances (e.g.
     The dove and the bulbul observe the time of their migration)
       G: 106k, 312
       J: 112d
       W: 30.4a,b
Intention/perfective of resolve - resolve or intend to do (e.g. Naomi is going to sell...)
       G: 106m
       J: 112g
       W: 30.5.1d #30-32
Ingressive/Inceptive - marks the beginning of an action (e.g. in the twelfth year of
     Joram, Ahaziah became king)
       W: 30.2.1a,b
Future perfect - a surprised question or unique act (e.g. who would have said?)
       J: 112i
       W: 30.5.1b #12-15
Optative, expressing a wish (e.g. may it please you to bless...)
        J: 112k
Precative, used in prayers (e.g. bring me relief!)
       W: 30.5.4d
Durative (e.g. Adam's life comprised 930 years)
       J: 111d, 113d, f-g
       W: 30.2.1c
Poetic Texts
       J:1121
Wayyiqtol (Inverted Perfect)
       J: 117a-e, 119a, c-w
Imperfect
```

166. Conditional/Hypothetical – perfect aspect is used in unreal conditions in the past

167. Incompleted action

in the present (e.g. מַה־תְּבַקֵּשׁ לֵאמֹר מַה־תְּבַקִּשׁ "The man asked him, 'What are you seeking?' "Gen. 37:15)

AC: 3.2.2a, c G: 107a-d, f, h-l J: 113a-b, d, f, j-k V: 19.3.1-3 W: 31.1.1, 31.2 c, b, 31.3b-d

2. in past tense, particularly when preceded by שֶרם ,שֶּר, שֶּרֶם, שֶּרֶם ,שֶׁר, (e.g. שֶּרֶם יִשְׁכָּבוּ (e.g. שֶׁרֶם יִשְׁכָּבוּ "before *they lay down*" Gen. 19:4)

G: 107b-c, 314 J: 113e, i-j W: 31.1.1b-f, 31.2, 31.6.3

3. simple future (e.g. לא־יַאַמִינוּ לִי "they will not believe me" Ex. 4:1)

G: 107i, 316 J: 113b W: 31.6.2a-b

4. future, with a past point of view (e.g. שֶׁמְעוּ כִּי־שָׁם יאַכְלוּ לְחָם "They had heard that they would eat a meal there." Gen. 43:25)

G: 107k J: 113b W: 31.6.2c

168. Frequentative or habitual, indicating action repeated either at any time or customarily at a given time. This is especially common in proverbial sayings. (e.g. בָּל־הַיָּבֶּים "Thus Job *did* continually." Job 1:5)

AC: 3.2.2b G: 107e, g J: 113c, e V: 19.3.4 W: 31.1.1e #6, 31.2b, 31.3b, c, e

169. Potential, expressing ability/capability, meaning "can" (e.g. אֵיכָה אֶשֶׂא לְבַדִּי מֶרְחֲכֶם "How *can I bear* the burden of you alone?" Deut. 1:12)

G:107r, w J: 1131 V: 19.3.5(i) W: 31.4b-c

170. Permissive, expressing an idea to be rendered by "may" (e.g. אֶת־שָׁנֵי בְנֵי הָמִית "You

```
may kill my two sons" Gen. 42:37)
       AC: 3.2.2d.2
       G: 107s
       J: 1131
       W: 31.4d
171. Desiderative, expressing a wish (e.g. הֶחֶלְכִי עִם־הָאִישׁ הַנֶּה "Do you want to go with this
     man?" Gen. 24:58)
       J: 113n
       V: 19.3.5(ii)
       W: 31.4h
172. Obligative (e.g. וֶכֵן לֹא יֵעְשֶׁה "Such a thing ought not to be done" Gen. 34:7)
       AC: 3.2.2d3
       G: 107n, w
       J: 113m
       V: 19.3.5(ii)
       W: 31.4f-g
173a. Injunctive, expressing a strong request or command
       AC: 3.2.2d4
       J: 113m
       V: 19.3.5(iii)
       W: 31.4
173b. Prohibitive, stronger than the vetitive (e.g. אָת־חַּקְּהֵי הַשְּׁמְרוּ "You must keep my
      statutes" Lev. 18:4)
       G: 107n-o, 317
       J: 113m
       W: 31.5d
174. Conditional/contingent (e.g. לוּ שָׁקוֹל יִשָּׁקֵל בַּעְשִׁי "If only my vexation might be
     weighed out!" Job 6:2)
       AC: 3.2.2d1
       G: 107x
       J: 167g-i
       W: 31.6.1b
175. After a telic particle/final conjunction (e.g. לְמַעוֹ יִימַב־לִּי "in order that it go well with
     me" Gen. 12:13)
       G: 107q
```

Instruction, expresses the speaker's will through legislation or teaching

W: 31.6.1b

W: 31.5c

Possibility

W: 31.4e

Deliberative, often questions the desirability of a situation taking place

W: 31.4f

Uncertainty, with לְבַלְהִי or לְבַּעָבוּר, אֲשֶׁר, פון in the apodosis

W: 31.6.1c

Stative Verbs, tend to become active; emphasizes temporal structure

J: 113a

W: 31.3c

Incipient, combines ideas of commencement and continuation

W: 31.2c, 31.3d

Ingressive, emphasizes the beginning

W: 31.1.1e #5

Instantaneity

J: 113h

Durative

J:113d, f-g

Modal, expresses "can/may/must/want"

J: 1131

W: 31.4 c-h

Telic, possessing an end point

W: 31.1.1e#5

bearing forms

W: 31.7

with the adverb הַּד

J:113i

Wayyiqtol Form (Inverted Future)

J: 117a-e, 118a, 119

Reasons wayyiqtol is not used when expected to be used.

J: 119d-g

Preterite

W: 32

```
176. Preterite, an event or state exclusively in past time
                        AC: 3.2.2
                       G: 48f-g
                       J: 113g-k, 117c
                        V: 15.5
                        W: 29, 31.1, 34.2.1
Preterite, with character of circumstantial clause, showing simultaneity or
contemporaneity
                       J: 113ga
177a. In waw consecutive
177b. In poetry (e.g. יאבר יוֹם אָוְלֶּד בּוֹ "May the day perish on which I was born." Job 3:3)
                       AC: 3.2.2e
                       J: 113h
                        V: 19.3.6
                       W: 29, 31.1
177c. In prose after אָז (e.g. אָז יָשִׁיר־מֹשֶׁה "Then Moses sang." Ex. 15:1)
                        AC: 3.2.2e
                       G: 107c
                       J: 113i
                       W: 31.6.3
Consecution (verbs with a waw prefix)
178. Imperfect with waw consecutive (e.g. וְאֶבֶרְהָם וַיִּפָח בֶּן־בָּקָר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וַיִּפָּח בֶּן־בָּקָר (e.g. יְאֶבֶרְהָם וַיִּפָּח בָּן־בָּקָר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וַיִּפָּח בּן־בָּקָר יִיאַ אַבְרָהָם וַיִּפָּח בּן־בָּקָר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וַיִּפָּח בּן־בּּקָר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וּיִפָּח בּן־בּּקָר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וּיִּפְּח בּן־בּּקָר רָץ אַבְּרָהָם וּיִּפְּח בּן־בּּקר רָץ אַבְּרָהָם וּיִפְּח בּן־בּּקר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וּיִּפְּח בּן־בּּקר רָץ אַבְרָהָם וּיִפְּח בּן־בּּקר רָץ אַבְּרָהָם וּיִפְּח בּן בּיִבְּקר רָץ אַבְּרָהָם וּיִיבְּח בּן בּיִבְּיִר רְיִי אַבְּרָהָם וּיִבְּח בּן בּיִּים וּיִבְּח בּן בּיִיבְּים וּיִבְּים וּיִבְּח בּיִיבְּים וּיִבְּח בּיִבְּים וּיִבְּיִם וּיִבְּיִם וּיִבְּים בּּן בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִיבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִיבְּים בּיִיבְּים בּיִיבְים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִיבְים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִיבְּים בּיִבְּים בּיִיבְּים בּיִיבְים בּיִבְּים בּיִּים בּיִים בּיִים בּיִיבְים בּיִיבְּים בּיִיבְּים בּיִיבְים בּיִיבְים בּיבּים בּיבּיִים בּייבּים בּיִיבְים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּייִים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּייבּים בּיים בּייבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּייבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבְים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּייִים בּייבּים בּיבְיים בּיבְים בּיבְיבּים בּיבְיבּים בּיבְיבּים בּיבּים בּיבְיבּים בּיבְיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבְיבּים בּיבְים בּיבּיבְים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבִים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבְיבּים בּיבְים בּיבִים
                to the herd and took a calf." Gen. 18:7)
                        AC: 3.5-3.5.1
                       G: 49, 111
                       J: 47, 117-8, 166b, 169c
                       V: 21.1-21.2
                       W: 33
179. Perfect with waw consecutive (e.g. מֵלֵךְ וְלָקַחְתָּ אָשֶׁה "Go and take a wife." Gen. 24:4)
                        AC: 3.5, 3.5.2
                        V: 21.1, 21.3
                       G: 49, 112
                       J: 43, 117, 119, 166b, 169c
```

180. Imperfect with simple waw (e.g. וְכָל־יִשְׂרָאֵל יִשְׁבְעוּ וְיִרָאוּן "All Israel will hear, and (as a result) will be afraid." Deut. 13:12)

AC: 3.5.1b, 3.5.3

G: 165a, 166a

J: 117a, 168a

V: 21.4, 21.5(iv), 40.8.2(ii)

W: 33.4, 39.2.1c

181a. Jussive, cohortative, imperative with waw for purpose or result (e.g. וְאֶעֶשֶה עִמוֹ הֶסֶר "so that I may show loyalty to him" 2 Sam. 9:1)

AC: 3.5.3b, 5.2.3a

G: 108d-f, 110f-i, 165a, 166a

J: 116, 168b, 169b, i

V: 21.5.1, 21.5.2, 40.8.2(ii)

W: 33.4, 33.5.2, 34.6

181b. Jussive, cohortative, imperative with waw for command or request (e.g. וִיהָי־נָא

יַּבְיישְנֵיִם בְּרוּחֲדְּ אֵלְי "so that I may show loyalty to him" 2 Kgs. 2:9)

J: 114a

V: 19.4, 21.5.3

182. Perfect with simple waw (e.g. הַּבְּמוֹת וּבְנָה מִוְבָּחֹת "he built the high places ... and built altars" 2 Kgs. 21:3-4)

W: 32.3

J: 117a

D. VOLITIVE MOODS

Precative - Jussive (3rd person) & Cohortative (1st person)

183. Origin and form

J: 45-6

W: 34.1-34.2

184. Optative (e.g. יְחִי הַמֶּלֶךְ "May the king live!" 1 Sam. 10:24)

AC: 3.3.1b-d, 3.3.3b, 5.3.3a

G: 108c, 109b-c, 151a

J: 114b-c, g-h, 163a

V: 19.4.3(ii), 19.4.4(ii)

W: 34.3, 34.5.1

185. Jussive and cohortative, expressing a command or request (e.g. בֶּלְכָה וְנַעַבְּדָה "Let us go and serve!" Deut. 13:7)

AC: 3.3.1a, 3.3.3c

G: 108b-c, 109b

J: 114b-h

V: 19.4.3(i), 19.4.4(i)

W: 34.3, 34.5.1

186. Vetitive, jussive with אַל (e.g. יְבֹר אַל־הָשֶׁבָּח "Remeber! Do not forget!" Deut. 9:7)

AC: 3.3.1d

G: 109c-e

J: 114i

V: 19.4.21, 19.4.4i

W: 34.3, 34.4a

187. Jussive or cohortative with waw for purpose or result (e.g. הָבִיאָה לִּי וְאֹבֶלָה "Bring it to me so that I may eat" Gen. 27:4)

AC: 3.5.3b, 5.2.3a

G: 108d-f, 165a, 166a

J: 116, 168b, 169b, i

W: 33.5.2, 34.6

Imperative

188. Command (e.g. מַלְּמִין "Be courageous and strong!" Deut. 31:23)

AC: 3.3.2a

G: 110a, d

J: 114m-o

V: 19.4.2(i)

W: 34.4a-b

189. Imperative with waw for purpose or result (e.g. יְבַּמְּה אֲּכַפֵּר וּבָּרְכוּ "How can I atone so that you will bless?" 2 Sam. 21:3)

AC: 3.5.3b, 5.2.3a

G: 110f-i, 165a, 166a

J: 116f

W: 33.4, 34.6

190. Condition, expressed by imperatives joined by waw (e.g. זֹאָת עֲשׁוּ וַחְיוּ "If you do this (and I command you to do so), then you will live" Gen. 42:18)

G: 110f

J: 168u

W: 32.2.2

```
Permission
```

J: 114n

Future

J:114p

191. As interjection (e.g. קום "Get up!" Ex. 32:1)

G: 110h J: 177f

E. VERBAL NOUNS

Pseudo-infinitives

J: 49ca-d

Infinitive Construct

192. As the subject of a clause (e.g. לֹא־מוֹב הֱיוֹת הָאָרָם לְבַדּי "For the man to be alone is not good." Gen. 2:8)

AC: 3.4.1a(1)

G: 114a

J: 124b, m

W: 36.2.1b, 36.2.3b

V: 20.1.2

193. As the object of a verb (e.g. לא אַדע צַאַח וְבֹא "I do not know how to go out or come

in." 1 Kgs. 3:7)

AC: 3.4.1a(3)

G: 144c, m

J: 124c

W: 36.2.1d

194. As a genitive (e.g. לא־עַת הַאָּסֵךְ הַמְּקְנָה "It is not the time *that* the livestock *is gathered*." 1 Sam. 10:24)

AC: 3.4.1a(2)

G: 144b

J: 124d

W: 36.1.2c

195. Explanatory or epexegetical, equivalent to a gerund (e.g. וַיִּשְאַל דְּוִד בַּיהוָה לֵאמֹר אָרָדּף "David asked YHWH, saying, 'Should I pursue?' " 1 Sam. 30:8)

AC: 3.4.1

G: 114o-p, 351

J: 1240

V: 20.1.3(v) W: 36.2.3

196. Obligation, with prefixed לְ of product (e.g. בֶּה לַשְּשׁוֹת לֶךְ "What should be done for you?" 2 Kgs. 4:13)

AC: 3.4.1e G: 114h, k-l J: 1241 W: 36.2.3f

197. Purpose, preceded by לְבְלָתִּי , לְמַעֵּן הָאָבִיד אֶת־עַבְדֵי הַבָּעַל (e.g. לְבַעָּל "in order to destroy the worshipers of Baal" 2 Kgs. 10:19)

AC: 3.4.1c G: 114f-h J: 124l, 168c V: 20.1.3(iv), 39.9.2(i) W: 36.2.2b, 36.2.3d

198. Consequence or result, typically preceded by לְמַעַן (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הָרֵע בְּעֵינֵי (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הָרֵע בְּעֵינֵי (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הָרֵע בְּעֵינֵי (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הַּרֶע בְּעִינוּ (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הָרֵע בְּעִינוּ (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הַּרַע בּעִינוּ (e.g. וְעֲשִּׁיתֶם הָרֵע בְּעִינוּ (e.g. וְעֲשִּיתֶם הָרֵע בְּעִינוּ (e.g. בְּעִינוּ וּעִינוּ הַיֹּאֶלהֶייְדְּ לְהַרְעִיסוּ "You do what is evil in the eyes of YHWH your God, thus angering him." Deut. 4:25)

AC: 3.4.1d J: 1241, 169d, g V: 20.1.3(vi) W: 36.2.2b, 36.2.3

- 199. Degree, with הְלְה חַּלְה הְּלְה הְּלְה הְיָקְיָהוּ לְמוּת "Hezekiah was sick enough to die." 2 Kgs. 20:1)
- 200. As object of a prepositions, denoting a temporal, causal, or concessive use (e.g. בְּמָלְכוֹ "when he became king" 2 Sam. 5:4)

AC: 3.4.1b G: 114q J: 124k-p W: 36.2.2-36.2.3

Infinitive Absolute

202. As the subject of a clause (e.g. בֵּל־מוֹב בְּמִשְׁבָּם בְּמִשְׁבָּם "To show partiality in judgment is not good." Prov. 24:23)

AC: 3.4.2a(1) G: 133b J: 123b W: 35.3.3a 203. As the object of a verb (e.g. לְמְדוּ הֵיטֶב "Learn to do good!" Isa. 1:17)

AC: 3.4.2a.3

G: 113c

J: 123b

W: 35.3.3b

204. Adverbial accusative of manner (e.g. שַאַלָּהַ הַיטֵב "You will inquire thoroughly."

Deut. 13:15)

AC: 3.4.2c

G: 113h-k

J: 123r

V: 20.2.3

W: 35.3.2a

205. To indicate emphasis, often precedes the finite form of the same root (e.g. מות הְמוּת "You will *surely* die." Gen. 2:17)

AC: 3.4.2b

G: 113 l-r

J: 123d-q

V: 20.2.1

W: 35.3.1

206. To express simultaneous action, continuous action, or repetition, follows the finite verb and is frequently of the same root (e.g. מֵלֶךְ הָלוֹךְ הָלוֹךְ הָלוֹךְ מִלְרַב "And he *kept on* coming nearer." 2 Sam. 18:25)

AC: 3.4.2b

G: 113r-u

J: 1231, s

W: 35.3.2b-c

207a. As a genitive (e.g. מְדֵרֶךְ הַשְּׁכֵּל "from the way of understanding." Prov. 21:16)

AC: 3.4.2a.2

G: 113e

J: 123c

W: 35.3.3a

207b. Object of preposition (e.g. אַחֲבֵרי שֶׁתֹה ... אַחֲבֵרי "Hannah rose ... after drinking." 1 Sam. 1:9)

J: 123c

W: 35.3.3a #6-7

208. As a substitute for a finite verb (e.g. הָבֶּר מַחֲשֶׁבוֹת בְּאֵין סוֹד "Plans fail for a lack of counsel." Prov. 15:22)

AC: 3.4.2d G: 113y-gg J: 123u-y V: 20.2.4 W: 35.5

209. As an imperfect without], adverbial, qualifying the same situation as the verb (e.g. הָנִים בְּלֹ-הָעֵרָה "All the congregation *will stone* him with stones." Num. 15:35)

As an imperfect with , representing a situation subordinate to the leading verb (e.g. "They will eat and they will have some left over." 2 Kgs. 4:43)

AC: 3.4.2d

G: 113y-aa, ee-ff

J: 123v-y

V: 20.2.4

W: 35.5.2

210. As a perfect without ְן, adverbial, qualifying the same situation as the verb (e.g. בְּחֹר "I chose him from all of the tribes of Israel." 1 Sam. 2:28)

As a perfect with וְ, representing a situation subordinate to the leading verb (e.g. וְּבָּבִּיִם "They smashed the jars." Judg. 7:19)

AC: 3.4.2d

G: 113y-aa, ff

J: 123w-y

V: 20.2.4

W: 35.5.2a, d

211. As an imperative (e.g. הָלוֹךְ שֶׁבַע־פְּעָמִים "Go and wash seven times!" 2 Kgs.

5:10)

AC: 3.4.2d

G: 113y-bb, 346

J: 123u-v, x-y

V: 20.2.4

W: 35.5.1

Orders and admonitions

J: 123ja

W: 35.3.1h

Doubt, in a question (mostly rhetorical) or in an unlikely condition or supposition

J: 123f-g

W: 35.3.1g

With the nuance of can/may

J: 123h W: 35.3.1g

With the nuance of must

J: 123h W: 35.3.1g

For a future

J: 123u-w

W: 35.5.2a #5 (non-perfective)

Equivalent of a preceding verbal form

J: 123x

In the predicate position

J: 123b(B2) W: 35.3.3a #5

As an adverb

W: 35.3.2, 35.4

Interjections of emphatic expressions and indignant questions

W: 35.3.2a #9-11

Intensifying paronomastic infinitive with an adverbial infinitive, qualifying the goal or character of the principal verb (e.g. וְנָגַרְ יְהוָה אֶת־הַגּוֹי הַהוּא נְחוֹשׁ וְאַבֵּד "I will uproot that nation in such a way as to destry it." Jer. 12:17)

W: 35.3.1b, d, 35.3.2d

212. As a jussive (e.g. הַקרב אֹחָה בְּנֵי־אָהֵרֹן "The sons of Aaron shall present it." Lev. 6:7)

AC: 3.4.2d G: 113y-aa, cc J: 123x-y W: 35.5.2

Participle

J: 50a-f

213. To express a repeated or continuous predicate (e.g. אֶּח־אַחַי אָנֹכִי מְבַקּשׁ "I am seeking my brothers." Gen. 37:16)

AC: 3.4.3, 5.1.1c G: 107d, 116a-c, o, r J: 121a-h, f V: 20.3.1(i)

```
W: 37.1 d-e, 37.6d-f, 37.7.1b, 37.7.2
```

214. To indicate imminent action (e.g. הַּוְּךְ מֵת "You are about to die." Gen. 20:3)

AC: 3.4.3b (3)

G: 116p, 359

J: 121e

V: 20.3.1(ii)

W: 37.6f

215. Adjectival, either attributive or predicative (e.g. יְהוָה אֱלֹהֶיךְ אֵשׁ אֹכְלָה "YHWH your God is a *consuming* fire." Deut. 4:24)

AC: 3.4.3a-b, 5.1.1c

G: 116d-l

J: 121i

V: 20.3.3

W: 37.4

216. With a gerundive or admissive sense, usually in the *Niphal* or *Pual* (e.g. פִּי־יְהוָה שֶּלְוֹן "because YHWH Most High *is to be feared*" Ps. 47:3)

G: 116c

J: 121i

W: 37.4d

217. Substantival (e.g. רֹעֶה "shepherd")

AC: 2.4.3c

G: 116g

V: 20.3.2

W: 37.2

218. As equivalent to a relative clause, often with the article (e.g. יְהוָה הַּגְּרְאֶה אֵּלְיוּ "YHWH, who had appeared to him" Gen. 12:7)

AC: 3.4.3a

G: 116x, 138i-k

J: 121i, 145e

V: 20.3.3

W: 13.5.2d, 19.7b, 37.5

Causal

J: 121p

W: 37.6b

Periphrastic construction (הַנָּה + participle)

J: 121g

W: 37.7.1

219. Circumstantial (e.g. הַהֶּלְ אֹכֵל לְּחֶם "Your spirit is sullen such that you are not *eating* food." 1 Kgs. 21:5)

AC: 5.2.11 W: 37.6d-f

220. Simultaneous action (e.g. הָהָיא מוֹצְקֶת "They were *bringing* the vessels as she poured." 2 Kgs. 4:5)

J: 121h

W: 32.2.5b, 37.6d

221. Attributive adjective, for repeated or continuous action (e.g. יְהוָה אֱלֹהֶיךְ אֵשׁ אֹכְלָה "YHWH your God is a *consuming* fire." Deut. 4:24)

AC 3.4.3

W: 37.6d

222. To express an indefinite subject (e.g. יְשָׁמֵע הַשֹּׁמֵע וְאָמֶר "anyone who hears will say" 2 Sam. 17:9)

W: 37.5c

Completed action

J:121q

Action in process

J:121q

Agreement of adjective (and participle)

J:149a-d

F. VERBAL COORDINATION

Verbal hendiadys

AC: 4.3.3g

JM: 102g, 177b-d

224. Two finite verbs connected by a waw (e.g. וְהְמָהֵר וַתְּלֶד ("She quickly lowered" her jar." Gen. 24:18)

G: 120d-e

J: 177b-d

225. Two finite verbs without a conjunctive waw (e.g. מָהֶרוּ שֶׁכְּחוּ מַשְשֶׁיו "They quickly forgot his works." Ps. 106:13)

G: 120g

J: 177g

226. A finite verb with an infinitive construct (e.g. הַקְשִׁיתָ לִשְׁאוֹל "You have made a difficult request." 2 Kgs. 2:10)

G: 114m-n V: 20.1.3(iii)

G. CONCORD OF SUBJECT AND VERB

227. Subject precedes verb (e.g. מֵצוֹת יֵאָכֵל "Unleavened bread will be eaten." Ex. 13:7)

G: 145a, n

V: 35(i)

228. A 3ms verb precedes subject (e.g. יֵיֹאמֶר שָׁרֵי סְבּוֹח "The leaders of Succoth said" Judg. 8:6)

G: 145a, o-q

J: 150j

V: 35(vi)

W: 6.6c

229. A collective singular subject taking a plural verb (e.g. נְיָנֶסוּ אֲבֶרֶם "The Arameans fled."

1Kgs. 20:20)

G: 145b-g

J: 150e

V: 35(iii)

W: 6.6b, 7.2.1b

230. Singular verb before, and plural verb after a compound subject (e.g. וַתַּעַן רְחֵל וְלַאָּה (Rachel and Leah *answered* and *said* to him" Gen. 31:14)

G: 146d-h

J: 150q

V: 35(viii, ix)

231. A dual subject taking a plural verb (e.g. הַחַזַּקנה יָדֵיך "Your hands will be strong."

Judg. 7:11)

G: 145n

J: 150d

V: 35(ii)

232. A subject in the plural of respect normally taking a singular verb (e.g. בָּרָא אֱלֹהִים "God *created*." Gen. 1:1)

G: 145h-i

J: 150f

V: 35(v)

233. An abstract plural subject taking a singular verb (e.g. הַּחָחַהַשׁ פַּנָּשֶׁר נְעוּרְיָכִי "Your youth will be renewed like the eagle." Ps. 103:5)

G: 145k V: 35(v)

234a. A 2fp subject with a masculine verb (e.g. בַאָּשֶׁר עַשִּׁיהָם "as you have done" Ruth 1:8)

G: 110k, 144a, 145p, t

J: 150a-k

W: 6.6c

234b. A 3fp subject with a masculie imperfect verb (e.g. אֶם־יֵצְאוּ בְנוֹת־שִׁילוֹ "if the daughters of Shiloh *come out*" Judg. 21:21)

G: 144a, 145p, t

J: 150b-c, k

W: 6.6c

H. SYNCHRONISM (SIMULTANEOUS ACTION)

235. Indicated by two perfect verbs (e.g. בְּאֶרֶץ צוּךְ וְשָׁאוּל אָמַר "As they entered Zuph, Saul said" 1 Sam. 9:5)

G: 164a-b

J: 166c

V: 36.1.I.3(iv), 47.2(iv)

236. Indicated by two participles, with subjects preceding, the first asyndetic (e.g. נְאֶלִישָׁע "As Elisha saw it, he cried out." 1 Kgs. 2:12)

G: 116u-v, 164a-b

J: 166e

V: 36.1.I.3(iv), 47.2(iv)

237. Indicated by a participle and a perfect verb (e.g. הַמָּה הָּעִיר וּשְׁמוּאֵל אָמַר "as they were *going down* to the edge of the city, Samuel said" 1 Sam. 9:27)

G: 116u-v, 164a-b

J: 166f

V: 36.1.I.3(iv), 47.2(iv)

III. SYNTAX OF PARTICLES

AC: 99-104, 119

G: 4

J: 102-5, 132-3, 176-7

V: 38-44

W: 4.2.2, 4.6.2, 11.1.2, 38.1a, 39.3.1d, 39.3.4

A. PREPOSITIONS

238. Ususally repeated before each object (e.g. לְּדְּ־לְּדְּ מֵאַרְצְּךְ וּמְמוֹלַדְתְּדְ "Go from your native land and from your people." Gen. 12:1)

G: 102, 103g, 119hh

J: 132g W: 11.4.2

The Preposition

220 - 0

239. בְּבֵּיִת "in the house") בְּבֵּיִת יוֹח often expresses rest or movement in place or time. (e.g. בְּבֵיִת

G: 119h

J: 133c

V: 39.6.1-2

W: 11.2.5b-c

240. Locative, meaning "in, at, within, amid, into, through, near" (e.g. בְּהֶר "on the mountain")

AC: 4.1.5a

G: 119h

J: 133c

V: 39.6.1(i)a-d

W: 9.5.2f, 11.2.5b

241. Temporal, meaning "when, while, throughout, in, at" (e.g. בַּבַּקָר "in the morning")

AC: 4.1.5(b), 5.2.4

G: 119h

J: 133c, 166l

V: 39.6.2

W: 11.2.5c, 36.2.2b

242. Adversative, expressing disadvantage, meaning "against, in spite of" (e.g. יְדוֹ בַּפֹל "His hand will be *against* everyone." Gen. 16:12)

AC: 4.1.5d

G: 119n

J: 133c

W: 11.2.5d #18

243. Means or instrument, meaning "with, by, by means of, on condition of" (e.g. "lest he attack us *with* plague" Ex. 5:3)

AC: 4.1.5c

G: 119o, p, 121f

J: 132e, 133c

V: 39.6.3(i)a

W: 11.2.5d #15-16

244. Transitivity, marks the object of a verb, especially verbs of extending or touching (e.g. יוֶרֶם בַּמְּטֶּה "He lifted the staff." Ex. 7:20)

G: 119k, q

J: 125m, 133c

V: 39.1.3(ii)a

W: 11.2.5f #32-36

245. Agent, meaning "by" or following the advice or command of someone, meaning "by, on" (e.g. אַרָה צָּוָה בְּיהוָה "my Lord was commanded by YHWH" Num. 36:2)

G: 119h, 119o, 121f

J: 132e

V: 39.6.3(i)b

W:11.2.5d #17; 23.2.2f

246 Price/exchange/equivalence, meaning "for, in exchange for" or as a monetary standard (e.g. הְּנֶה־לִּי אֶת־כַּרְמִךּ בְּכֶּסֶף "Sell me your vineyard *for* money." 1 Kgs. 21:6)

AC: 4.1.5i

G: 119p

J: 132e, 133c

V: 39.6.3(ii)

W: 11.2.5d #20-21

247. Causal, meaning "because of, for the sake of" (e.g. אָת־כָּל־הָעִיר "Will you destroy the whole city because of five?" Gen. 18:28)

AC: 4.1.5f

G: 119p

J: 170j

V: 39.6.3(iv)

W: 11.2.5e #29; 38.4a

248. Accompaniment, physical or mental, meaning "with, together with, in" (e.g. בְּשֶׂר "You will not eat flesh with its life, that is, its blood." Gen. 9:4)

AC: 4.1.5g

G: 119m

J: 133c

V: 39.6.3(iii)

W: 11.2.5d #10-14

249. Identity, marks the capacity in which an actor behaves, meaning "as, serving as, in the capacity of" (e.g. אֱלֹהֵי אָבִי בְּעֶּזְרִי "The God of my father was my help." Ex. 18:4)
AC: 4.1.5h

G: 119i J: 133c

W: 11.2.5e #27-28

בְּבְּשֵּׁר בְּעוֹף ... וּבַבְּהַהָּה וּבַּדָ All flesh died: birds, cattle, and ani

AC: 4.1.5c, e

G: 119i

W: 11.2.5e #22-24, 11.2.5d #19

251. Partitive, meaning "in, of, part of" (e.g. יַּהְרֹג בְּמִשְׁמַנֵּיהֶם "He killed *some of* their fat ones." Ps. 78:31)

AC: 4.1.5e

G: 119m

W: 11.2.5f #31

252. State/condition, expressing a norm or manner, meaning "with, in, in the manner of, like" (e.g. בְּשֶׁלוֹם "in peace")

AC: 4.1.5(i)

G: 119i

J: 133c

V: 39.6.3 (v)

W: 11.2.5e #25

253. Terminative/pregnant, expressing movement within space or time, meaning "into" (e.g. יְשָׁלֵח אֶּח־הַשְּׁעִיר בַּמְּרְבָּר "He will send the goat *into* the wilderness." Lev. 16:22)

AC: 4.1.5a

G: 119h, n

J: 133c

W: 11.2.5b

254. Distributive e.g. "by, after, every" (e.g. יוֹם בָּיוֹם "day after day" 2 Chr. 30:21)

G: 123c

V: 24.3.2(iv)

W: 7.2.3b, 11.2.5f, 15.6a

Estimative, specifies the range against which an opinion is held, meaning "among"

Comparison

G: 119h-i

J: 133c, h (Omitted after)

W: 11.2.5e-f

The Preposition

Variant form כְּמוֹ

J: 103g

W: 11.1.2d

255. Expresses likeness, agreement in kind, similitude, resemblance, meaning "like" (e.g. יבי־הוא בָּאִישׁ אֱמָת "for he was a *truly* faithful man" Neh. 7:2)

G: 118t, v-w

J: 113g, 133g, 174i

V: 39.10.1(i, iii)

W: 11.2.9b #1, 3

256. Comparative use, meaning as, such as, the same as" (e.g. הַנְמְצָא כָּזֶה אִישׁ "Can we find a man *like* this?" Gen. 41:38)

AC: 4.1.9a-b, 5.2.6

G: 118s-w

J: 103g, 174c-d, i

V: 39.10.1(i)

W: 11.1.2d, 11.2.9c #11-12

257. Approximation, with numerals, meaning "about, about as" (e.g. קּטֶשֶׂר שָׁנִים "about ten years" Ruth 1:4)

G: 4.1.9a-b

J: 133g

V: 39.10.1(iii)

W: 11.2.9b #2; 39.10.1iii

258. Concessive, with an infinitive, meaning "although" (e.g. וַיְהִי כְּדַבְּרֶה אֶל־יוֹסֵף יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם מּנִים בְּיִבְּרָה אֶל־יוֹסֵף יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם מּנִים יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם מּנִים מִּנְים מִּנְם מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְם מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְים מִּנְם מִּנְים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנְים מְּנִים מְּנִים מְּנְבְּבְּים מְּיִּם מְּים מִּנְים מְּנְבְּבְּנְהְיּים מְּנְים מְּים מִּים מְיּים מִּים מִים מִּים מְיּים מְיּים מִּים מְיּים מִּים מְיּים מִּים מִּים מְיּים מְיּים מְיּים מְים

AC 4.3.4h

V: 39.10.1(ii)

W: 11.2.9b

259. Norm or manner, meaning "like, as, according to, in accordance with" (e.g. הְּנֵיִי "Be gracious to me, O God, according to your loyalty." Ps. 51:3)

W: 11.2.9b # 4-7

V: 39.10.1(ii)

260. Causal בַּאֲשֶׁר, meaning "in accordance with the fact, because" (e.g. בַּאֲשֶׁר מְרִיהֶם "because you rebelled" Num. 27:14)

AC 4.3.4a

J: 170k

261. Asseverative, expressing identity or correspondence, meaning "for, as, as well as, in every way" (e.g. מֶּמְתִּיךְ כְּרֹאֵי "I will make you *such a* spectacle." Nah. 3:6)

AC: 4.3.4i G: 118x

J: 133g V: 39.10.2

W: 11.2.9b #8-10

262a. Temporal, meaning "as soon as, when, at, just as, at the very moment, immediately after" (e.g. קֿבֶּח מְּקָה "at this very time tomorrow" 1 Sam. 9:16)

AC: 4.1.9c

G: 118u

J: 133g, 166m

V: 39.10.3

W: 11.2.9e, 36.2.2b #3, 6, 7

- 262b. Temporal בְּשֶׁהְ meaning "when" (e.g. בְּשֶׁהְפּוֹל "when it falls" Eccl. 9:12) J: 166n
- 263. Pregnant, absorbs other prepositions, meaning "as" and another word dependent on the omitted preposition (e.g. יְנִיהַ יְהְוָה לַאֲהֵיכֶם כְּכֶּם "YHWH will give rest to your brothers as to you." Josh. 1:15) (The preposition 'to' is omitted after p.)

AC: 4.1.9b

G: 118s

J: 113h

W: 11.2.9a, c

264. Comparison, meaning "just as...so" (e.g. בָּאָשֶׁר צָּוָה אָהָם כֵּן עָשׁוּ "Just as YHWH commanded them, so they did." Ex. 7:6)

W: 38.5a

J: 174a

Substantival, meaning "anything like, something like, as a kind of,"

G: 118s

W: 11.2.9d

Emphatic meaning "indeed"

W: 11.2.9c #13

The Preposition ?

265. Expresses motion towards a thing or person or relation to something (e.g. לְּאָחוֹר

```
"backward")
       G: 119c, e, r
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11
       W: 10.4a, 11.2.10b
266a. Spatially terminative, meaning "to, up to" (e.g. בָּא לָשִיר "He came to the city." 1
      Sam. 9:12)
       AC 4.1.10a
       V: 39.11.I.1.a
       W: 11.2.10b #4
266b. Temporally terminative, meaning "to, up to" (e.g. לְעוֹלֶם "to eternity" or "forever" 2
      Kgs. 5:27)
       A: 4.1.10c
       V: 39.11.I.1.f
       W: 11.2.10c #8-11
267. Directive, motion towards someone or something, meaning "towards" (e.g. לְאָהוֹר
     ילא לְבָּנִים "backwards and not forwards" Jer. 7:24)
       AC: 4.1.10a
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11.I.1.a
       W: 11.2.10b #3
268a. Temporal point, meaning "by" (e.g. לְעֵרֶב "by the evening" Ps. 90:6)
       AC: 4.1.10c
       G: 119r
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11.I.1.f
       W: 11.2.10c #12, 36.2.3d
268b. Temporal duration, meaning "for" (e.g. לְשֵׁנִים שֶׁלוֹשׁ "for three years" 2 Chr. 11:17)
       AC: 4.1.10c
       V: 39.11.I.1.f
       W: 11.2.10c #5-7, 36.2.3d
269. Indicating the indirect object, meaning "to, untranslated" (e.g. יהַמוּרל "You shall") אוני ממון לי
     give to him." Deut. 15:14)
       AC 4.1.10e
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11.I.1.b
       W: 11.2.10d #24-27
```

```
J: 125k
       W: 10.4b, 11.2.10g #58-60
270. Possession, meaning "of, belonging to" (e.g. הַבַּיִח לֶאֵלִישָׁע "Elisha's house" Ps. 90:6)
       AC: 4.1.10f
       G: 129
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11.I.3
       W: 9.7a-c, 10.3.2b, 11.2.10d #13-16, 11.2.10f
271a. Advantage meaning "for" (e.g. הבית לאלישע "Elisha's house" Ps. 90:6)
       AC 4.1.10e.1
       G: 119s
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11.2(iii)
       W: 11.2.10d #28-31, 16.4d, 18.3b
271b. Disadvantage, meaning "against" (e.g. מָהַאַנָה הוא לִי "He is picking a fight with
      me." 2 Kgs. 5:7)
       AC: 4.1.10e.2
       G: 119s
       J: 133d
       W: 11.2.10d, 18.3b
272. Reflexive, the action is of interest to the performer, untranslated (e.g. לְּדַּ־לַךְּ מָאַרְצַךְּ
    "Leave your country!" Gen. 12:1)
       AC 4.1.10m
       G: 119s
       J: 133d
       V: 39.11.I.5 (iii)
       W: 11.2.10d #32-33
273a. Specification, meaning "with regard to, with respect to, thus, for, untranslated"
      (e.g. וְלַאַתְנוֹת הַאַבְרוֹת "and as for the donkeys which were lost" 1 Sam. 9:20)
       AC: 4.1.10h
       G: 114o, 119r, u
       J: 130g, 133d
       V: 39.11.I.2(i)
       W: 11.2.10d, g
273b. Direct object, untranslated (e.g. יְלֹר לְעֵבֶרֶיךְ "Remember your servants!" Deut.
      9:27)
       G: 117n
```

Indicateing the direct object

J: 125k

V: 39.1.3(ii)a, 39.11.I.5(ii)

W: 10.4b, 11.2.10g, 11.4.1b

273c. Subject of a passive verb, *untranslated* (e.g. לְּזֹאַת יִקְרָא אָשֶׁה "This one will be called 'woman.' "Gen. 2:23)

J: 132f

W: 10.4c, 11.2.10g

273d. In place of a repeated preposition, meaning "and, untranslated" (e.g. בֵּין־טוִב לְרָע "between good and evil" 2 Sam. 19:36)

J: 133d

274a. Norm/manner/class/type, meaning "according to, as compared with" (sometimes rendered as an English adverb) (e.g. עֹשֶה פְּרִי לְמִינוֹ "bearing fruit according to its kind" Gen. 1:11)

AC 4.1.10i-j

J 1240

V: 39.11.I.2(ii)

W: 11.2.10d #20-22

274b. Comparison, meaning "as" (e.g. עַד אֲשֶׁר דַּק לְּעֶבֶּר "until it was crushed as fine as dust" Deut. 9:21)

J: 133d

W: 11.2.10d #23

- 275. Degree, with an infinitive construct, meaning "enough to" (e.g. חָלָה חִוְקָיָהוּ לְמוּת "Hezekiah was sick *enough to* die." 2 Kgs. 20:1)
- 276. Introducing, in the completion of an infinitive construct (e.g. יוֹדֵעַ לַשְׁשׁוֹת בַּזְּהָב "knowing how to work in gold" 2 Chr. 2:13)

AC 3.4.1g

277. Purpose, meaning "to, in order to" (e.g. הַּיִּדֹל לְמֶמְשֶׁלֶת הַיִּדֹל לְמֶמְשֶׁלֶת הַיִּדֹל יָמָמְשֶׁלֶת הַיִּדֹל "God made ... the great light to govern the day." Gen. 1:16)

AC: 4.1.10d

G: 165a

J: 1241, 168c

V: 39.11.II

W: 11.2.10d #38-45

278. Product, when an action results in a state or condition, meaning "become," with an infinitive construct it imparts a gerundive sense, meaning "is to be . . .-ed" (e.g. ''I will make you *into* a great nation." Gen. 12:2)

AC 4.1.10e.2

G: 119t

V: 39.11.I.1.c

W: 11.2.10d

279. Result, after verbs of making, forming, changing, appointing to something, esteeming as something, meaning "as, to, for" (e.g. הַּהָבֶּם כְּצֵאוֹן לְשִבְּקָה "Drag them off like sheep for slaughter!" Jer. 12:3)

AC 3.4.1d

G: 119t

280. Agent, meaning "as" (e.g. אֲשֶׁר יֵאָכֵל לְכָל־נָפֶשׁ "what will be eaten by every person"

Ex. 12:16)

AC 4.1.101

G: 121f

J: 132f

V: 39.11.I.5(i)

W: 11.2.10g, 23.2.2f

Relation, indicates to whom, as its author, the action relates, meaning "by, of"

J: 130b, 132f

W: 11.2.10d #17

Genitival relationship, meaning "of, in (with dates), on"

AC: 4.1.10g

J: 130

281. Distributive, meaning "every, by, per" (e.g. עֹבְרִים לְמֵאוֹת וְלַאֶּלֶפִים "passing over by hundreds and by thousands" 1 Sam. 29:2)

G: 119r

V: 39.11.4

W: 11.2.10c #12

282. Lamed of interest, assistance or partisanship, or disadvantage, meaning "for, on the side of, against" (e.g. הַּלְנוּ אַהָּה אָם־לְצָרֵינוּ "Are you for us or for our foes?" Josh.

5:13)

AC: 4.1.10e.1

W: 11.2.10d #28-33

283. Asseverative, meaning "truly" (e.g. לֵיהוָה מְנְנֵנוּ "Truly YHWH is our shield." Ps. 89:12)

G: 143e

W: 11.2.10i #65

284. Obligation, meaning "incumbent upon, had to, ought" (e.g. הַלְּיִשׁ אֶת־הַמְּשְׁפָּם "Is it not *incumbent upon* you to be familiar with justice?" Mic. 3:1)

G: 1141 J: 1241

W: 11.2.10d, 36.2.3f

Authorship, meaning "by"

G: 119r J: 130b

W: 11.2.10d #17

Marking the topic of a verb of saying, meaning "of, about, by"

V: 39.11.I.5(i-ii) W: 11.2.10g

Inscriptions, introduces the exact wording of an inscription or title

G: 119u

Locative, meaning "at"

AC 4.1.10b

G: 119r

W: 11.2.10b #1-2

Centripetal, the subject disassociates himself from his familiar surroundings and establishes his own identity, gives emphasis to the significance of the occurrence in question for a particular subject, often with imperatives, meaning "to, in, among"

G: 119s

W: 11.2.10d #34-37

Marks an apposition, meaning "that is"

J: 125 1

W: 11.2.10h

Emphatic, meaning "indeed, oh!"

W: 11.2.10i

The Preposition על

285. Expresses motion or rest on or above something (e.g. שֶׁבֶב עַל־מִשְּבֶּבְהְ "Lie down *on* your bed." 2 Sam. 13:5)

G: 101a

J: 103a

W: 11.2.13

286. Locative, meaning "on, over, above, at, beside" (e.g. עַל־הָאָרֶץ "Let birds fly above the earth." Gen. 1:20)

AC: 4.1.16a G: 119aa, cc

J: 133f

V: 39.19.1 W: 11.2.13b

287. Terminative, meaning "onto, down, upon" (e.g. שָׁם עַל־שֶּׁכְמָה "He put [them] *onto* her shoulder." Gen. 21:14)

A: 4.1.16a

V: 39.19.1

W: 11.2.13b

288a. Adversative, expressing disadvantage, meaning "against" (e.g. מֵהָה עֶּלֵי רָחֵל "Rachel died, to my sorrow." Gen. 48:7)

AC: 4.1.16f

G: 119dd

J: 133f

W: 11.2.13c #14

288b. Concessive, meaning "although, in spite of" (e.g. עַל־דַּעְקַּדְּ כִּי־לֹא אָרְשֶׁע "although you know that I am not guilty" Job 10:7)

AC: 4.1.16f, 5.2.12

G: 160c

J: 171a, e

W: 11.2.13f, 36.2.2b

289. Specification, to be translated "concerning, with regard to" (e.g. וְעַל הִשְּׁנוֹת הַחְלוֹם "and concerning the repetition of the dream" Gen. 41:32)

V: 39.19.4(i)

290. Norm, meaning "in accordance with, on the basis of" (e.g. מַל כָּל־הַדְּבָרִים הָאֵלֶה "in accordance with all these words" Ex. 24:8)

AC: 4.1.16e

V: 39.19.4(ii)

W: 11.2.13e #18

291. Causal, meaning "for, because" (e.g. הַּנְּדְ מֵח עֵל־הָאָשָׁה "You are a dead man because of the woman." Gen. 20:3)

AC: 4.1.16d, 5.2.5

G: 158b-c

J: 170h

V: 39.19.5

W: 11.2.13e #19, 38.4a

292. Addition, meaning "in addition to" (e.g. יָסַבְּנוּ עַל־ כָּל־חשֹאחֵינוּ רָעָה "We have added [this] evil to all of our sins." 1 Sam. 12:19)

AC: 4.1.16g

G: 119aa note 2

J: 133f

V: 39.19.3 (ii)

W: 11.2.13d #16

293. Accompaniment, meaning "with, accompanied by, together with" (e.g. נַיֶּבֹאוּ הָאָנָשִׁים "They men came, *together with* the women." Ex. 35:22)

AC: 4.1.16g

V: 39.19.3 (i)

W: 11.2.13d #15

294. Obligation, meaning "incumbent upon, had to, ought" (e.g. זְבְחֵי שֶׁלְמִים עֶּלְי "I had to offer peace offerings." Prov. 7:14)

AC: 4.1.16b

G: 119aa

V: 39.19.1(iv)

W: 11.2.13c, 36.2.3f

295. Advantage, meaning "on behalf of, for the sake of, for" (e.g. נְלְחֵם אָבִי עֲלֵיכֶם "My father fought *for* you." Judg. 9:17)

G: 119bb

W: 11.2.13c #12, 13

296. Indirect object, meaning "to, *untranslated*" (e.g. וְּשֶׁלֵּי הָשָּה־חֶּטֶּר "He extended loyalty to me." Ezra 7:28)

J: 133f

W: 11.2.13g #27

The Preposition אֶל

297. Expresses motion towards a person or thing. It is never used with an infinitive or a noun clause. (e.g. הַשָּב אֶלֵיו אֶל־הַהָּבָה "And it returned to him, to the ark." Gen. 8:9)

J: 133b

V: 39.3.1a-b

W: 11.2.2a

298. Terminative, meaning "into, unto" (e.g. יּבָאהָ אֶל־הַתֵּבָה "You will enter *into* the ark." Gen. 6:18)

AC: 4.1.2a

G: 119g

J: 133b

V: 39.3.1

W: 11.2.2a #4

299. Directive, meaning "towards" (e.g. יְהְפַּלְלוּ אֶּל־הַמְּקוֹם הַיָּה "They will pray towards this place." 1 Kgs. 8:30)

AC: 4.1.2a

G: 119g

J: 133b

V: 39.3.1

W: 11.2.2a #2-3

300. Indirect object, meaning "to, *untranslated*" (e.g. וַיִּהְפַּלֵּל אַבְרָהָם אֶל־הָאֱ "Abraham prayed *to* God." Gen. 20:17)

AC: 4.1.2a, c-d

J: 133b

V: 39.3.1

W: 11.2.2a #6-7

301. Assistance or partisanship, meaning "for, on the side of" (e.g. הָּנְנִי אָצַלִיכֶם "Behold, I am on your side!" Ezek. 36:9)

AC: 4.1.2b

V: 39.3.1

W: 11.2.2

302. Advantage, meaning "for, for the sake of, on behalf of" (e.g. בַּיָּטָה אֶל־נַפְּשֶׁם "They fled for their lives." 2 Kgs. 7:7)

AC: 4.1.2b

V: 39.3.1

W: 11.2.2a #8-10

303. Disadvantage/Adversative, meaning "against" (e.g. נַיֶּקֶם קַיָּן אֶל־הֶבֶל "Cain rose up against Abel." Gen. 4:8)

AC: 4.1.2b

V: 39.3.1

W: 11.2.2a #11

304. Accompaniment, meaning "with, accompanied by" (e.g. לָאֱלֶל אֶל "by eating [it] with the blood." 1 Sam. 14:34)

AC: 4.1.2e

V: 39.3.2(i)

W: 11.2.2a #13

305. Addition, meaning "in addition to" (e.g. הְּבְּקָה וְטוֹב אֶּלֹ־הַשְּׁמוּעָה "You have added wisdom and prosperity *in addition to* [what was in] the report." 1 Kgs. 10:7)

AC: 4.1.2e V: 39.3.2(ii) W: 11.2.2a #14

306. Specification, meaning "concerning" (e.g. הָּתְאָבֵּל שָׁמוּאֵל אָל־שָׁאוּל "Samuel grieved over Saul." 1 Sam. 15:35)

AC: 4.1.2g W: 11.2.2a #15

307. Norm, meaning "in accordance with, on the basis of" (e.g. אֶל־פִּי יְהוֶה לִיהוֹשֶׁעַ "according to YHWH's command to Joshua" Josh. 15:13)

V: 39.3.4

W: 11.2.2a #12 (Normative Dative)

308. Locative, meaning "at, by, near" (e.g. וַיִּמְצָאוּ אָהוֹ אֶל־מַיִם רַבִּים "They found him by the great waters." Jer. 41:12)

AC: 4.1.2f G: 119g J: 133b V: 39.3.3 W: 11.2.2a #1

The Preposition עד

309. Terminative, meaning "as far as" (e.g. נְיָבֹאוּ עַד־חָרֶן "They came as far as Haran." Gen. 11:31)

AC: 4.1.15a V: 39.18.1 W: 11.2.12c #6

310. Locative, meaning "near, at" (e.g. נֵיֶאֶהֶל עַד־סְדֹם "He pitched his tents *near* Sodom." Gen. 13:12)

V: 39.18.1 W: 11.2.12b

311. Temporal, meaning "to, until, by, during, while, as long as" (e.g. וְלֹא־הֶאֶמִנְתִּי לַּדְּבָּרִים "But I did not believe the report *until* I came." 1 Kgs. 10:7)

AC: 4.1.15b, 5.2.4b

G: 107c

J: 104b, 112i, 113k, 166i, k

V: 39.18.2

W: 11.2.12b #3-5, 30.5.2b, 36.2.2, 38.7a

312. Degree, meaning 'up to, to the point that, to the level of, as far as, as much as, even to' (e.g. יְעַד־הַשְּׁלֹשֶׁה לֹא־בָא "But he did not attain *to* the three." 2 Sam. 23:19)

AC: 4.1.15c V: 39.18.3 W: 11.2.12c-d

- 313. Inclusive, meaning "as well as, and, from...to" (e.g. אַר־אָבֶר עַד־פָּרְחָה "from its base to its flowers" Num. 8:4)
- 314. Emphatic, meaning "even" (e.g. לֹא־נִשְאַר בָּהֶם עַד־אֶּחָד "Not *even* one of them remained." Ex. 14:28)

The Preposition מְן

315. Separative, meaning "from" (e.g. בְּרֹיִפֹּל הַנְּפֵל הָנְפֵל מְמָנוּ "if someone falls *from* it" Deut. 22:8)

AC: 4.1.13a G: 119v, z J: 133e V: 39.14.1

W: 11.2.11b #3

316. Starting time, meaning "from, after" (e.g. בְּיִּוֹם דַּעְהִי אֶּרְכֶּם "from the day that I knew you" Deut. 9:24)

AC: 4.1.13b, 5.2.4

J: 133e V: 39.14.2 W: 11.2.11c

317. Comparative, with an adjective, meaning "...-er than" (e.g. מָה־מָּתוֹק מִּדְבַשׁ "What is sweeter *than* honey?" Judg. 14:18)

V: 39.14.8(i) W: 11.2.11e(1) #8

318. Absolute comparative (elative), meaning "too...for" (e.g. הַּיִּפְלֵא מֵיְהוָה דָּבֶּר "Is anything too difficult for YHWH?" Gen. 18:14)

V: 39.14.8(ii-iii) W: 11.2.11e(3)

319. Causal, meaning "because, because of" (e.g. הָרִים רָעֲשׁוּ מְּמֶנוּ "Mountains quake because of him." Nah. 1:5)

AC: 4.1.13d, 5.2.5b

G: 119z

J: 133e, 170i

V: 39.14.5

W: 11.2.11d #10-11, 36.2.2b, 38.4a

320a. Means/instrumental, meaning "by, with" (e.g. יְלֹא־יִפְּרֵת כָּלֹ־בָּשֶׂר עוֹד מִמֵּי הַמַּבּוּל "All flesh will not be cut off again by the waters of the flood." Gen. 9:11)

J: 132d

V: 39.14.6.a

W: 11.2.11d #12

320b. Agent, meaning "by" (e.g. אָשָה נְרוּשָה מְאִישָה "a divorced woman by her husband"

Lev. 21:7)

AC: 4.1.13d

J: 132d

V: 39.14.6.b

W: 11.2.11d, 23.2.2f

321. Privative, meaning "deprived of, without" (e.g. עָמְדוּ מַכֹּחַ נָסִים "The fugitives stand without strength." Jer. 48:45)

AC: 4.1.13g

G: 119w-x

V: 39.14.3

W: 11.2.11e (2)

322. Source, meaning "from, of" (e.g. מֶרְשָׁעִים יֵצֵא רֶשַׁע "Wickedness comes from wicked people" 1 Sam. 24:14)

AC: 4.1.13a

J: 133e

V: 39.14.1

W: 11.2.11d #9

323. Relationship in space/location (*idiomatic*) (e.g. הָהֶרֶה מְּקֶרֶם לְבֵית־אֵל "to the mountain to the east of Bethel" Gen. 12:8)

W: 11.2.11b-c

323b. Temporal, meaning "in, on" (e.g. וְיָהִי מִּמְחֵרֶת וַתּאֹמֶר הַבְּּכִירָה "on the following day, the firstborn said" Gen. 19:34)

AC: 4.1.13b

V: 39.14.2

W: 11.2.11c

323c. Standpoint, meaning "in the sight of, before, from the standpoint of" (e.g. וְהְיִיהֶם מֵּוְהוָה "You will be free *before* YHWH." Num. 32:22)

W: 11.2.11d

324. Partitive, meaning "some of, of" (e.g. מְּבְּרִי הָאֶּדְמְה "some of the fruit of the ground" Gen. 4:3)

AC: 4.1.13f

J: 133e

V: 39.14.7

W: 11.2.11e (1) #16-17

325. Emphatic, meaning "even" (e.g. אָבְדְּ אָרְצָה בְּנֵךְ אָרְצָה "Not *even* a single hair of your son shall fall to the ground." 1 Sam. 14:11)

W: 11.2.11e (1) #19-21

- 326. Explicative, meaning "namely, *idiomatic*" (e.g. אָשֶׁר בְּחָרוֹ אָשֶׁר בְּחָבוֹ "They took wives for themselves, any they chose." Gen. 6:2)
- 327. Inclusive, meaning "from...to" (e.g. מַנְעַר וְעַד־זָבֶן "from the young to the old" Gen. 19:4)

The Preposition עַם

328. Accompaniment, meaning "with" (e.g. הוא וְהָאֲנְשִׁים אֲשֶׁר־עִמּו "he and the men who were with him" Gen. 24:54)

AC: 4.1.17a

V: 39.20.1(i)

W: 11.2.14b #1-3

329. Locative, meaning "near, beside" (e.g. נֵישֶׁב יִצְחָק עִם־בָּאֵר לַחַי רֹאִי "Isaac settled *near* Beer-lahai-roi." Gen. 25:11)

AC: 4.1.17c

V: 39.20.3

W: 11.2.14c #11

330. Possession or possessor, meaning "has, in possession of" (e.g. עם אָשֶר הַמְצָא אָת־אֱלֹהֶיךּ "whomever you find *in possession of* your gods" Gen. 31:32)

W: 11.2.14

331. Advantage, meaning "for, for the sake of, on behalf of" (e.g. אָשִיבֶּה עָפֶּוּן "so that I may cause things to go well *for* you" Gen. 32:10)

AC: 4.1.17b V: 39.20.2

W: 11.2.14b #5

332. Disadvantage or adversative, meaning "against, in spite of" (e.g. מִי־יָקוּם לִי עִם־מְרֵעִים "Who will stand up for me *against* evildoers?" Ps. 94:16)

AC: 4.1.17b V: 39.20.2

W: 11.2.14b #8

333. Co-ordination, meaning "and, as well as, along with" (e.g. עָם־עָרִיהֶם הָחֲרִימֶם הַחֲרִימֶם "Joshua devoted them to destruction, *along with* their cities." Josh. 11:21)

AC: 4.1.17a V: 39.20.1(ii) W: 11.2.14b #4

334. Comparison, meaning "like, similar to" (e.g. הֶּלְפוּ עִם־אֲנִיּוֹת אֵבֶה "They go by *like* papyrus boats." Job 9:26)

W: 11.2.14c #12

- 335. Reciprocal, meaning "with" (e.g. וּפְּלִשְׁתִּים נָאֶסְפּוּ לְהִלְּחֵם עִם־יִשְּׂרָאֵל "The Philistines gathered to fight with Israel." 1 Sam. 13:5)
- 336. Assistance, meaning "with the help of, with" (e.g. עֶם־אֱלֹהִים עֶשֶה הַיִּוֹם הַנֶּה (He did it today with the help of God." 1 Sam. 14:45)

AC: 4.1.17a W: 11.2.14b #3

337. Consciousness meaning "in the mind of, in the eyes of, with" (e.g. יָם־לְּבֶבֶּף "in your heart" Deut. 8:5)

W: 11.2.14b #9-10

The Preposition אֶת־/אֵת

338. Accompaniment, meaning "with" (e.g. וְּשָׂאוּ אִקּף "They will carry [it] with you." Ex. 18:22)

AC: 4.1.4a

V: 39.5.1(i)

W: 11.2.4a #1

339. Locative, meaning "near, beside" (e.g. הַּבְּּסִילִים אֲשֶׁר אֶת־הַגּּלְנֶּל "the idols which were near Gilgal" Judg. 3:19)

AC: 4.1.4d

V: 39.5.1(ii)

W: 11.2.4a #9

340. Possession, meaning "have, in the possession of" (e.g. מָה אָהָע "What do we have?" 1 Sam. 9:7)

AC: 4.1.4b

V: 39.5.1(iii)

W: 11.2.4a #10

341. Advantage, meaning "for" (e.g. בְּלֹל עָשָׂה אָהְכֶם "just as he did *for* you" Deut. 1:30)

AC: 4.1.4c

V: 39.5.2

W: 11.2.4a #2-4

342. Disadvantage, meaning "against" (e.g. אַהָּה עֹשֶה אָתִּי (You as doing me wrong." Judg. 11:27)

AC: 4.1.4c

V: 39.5.2

343. Co-ordination, meaning "and, as well as, along with" (e.g. יְהַנְנִי מְשְׁהִיהָם אֶּת־הָאָרֶץ "I am about to destroy them *along with* the earth." Gen. 6:13)

AC: 4.1.4a

W: 11.2.4

344. Reciprocal, meaning "with" (e.g. וְאָשֶׁפְּטֶה אָהְכֶם לִּפְנֵי יְהוָה "so that I may go to court with you before YHWH" 1 Sam. 12:7)

AC: 4.1.4a

345. Assistance, meaning "with the help of, with" (e.g. קְנִיתִי אָישׁ אֶת־יְהוָה "I have acquired a man with the help of YHWH." Gen. 4:1)

AC: 4.1.4a

W: 11.2.4a #4

346. Partisanship, with the meaning "for, on the side of" (e.g. מֶּי אָתִּי "Who *is on* my *side?*" 2 Kgs. 9:32)

AC: 4.1.4a

W: 11.2.4a #2-3

347. Consciousness, meaning "in the awareness of" (e.g. יְבַרְתַּנִי אָתְּךְ "Keep me in mind!" Gen. 40:14)

תַחַת The Preposition

349. Locative, meaning "under, at the base of" (e.g. מַחַת הָהֶר "at the base of the mountain" Ex. 24:4)

AC: 4.1.18a

V: 39.21.1(i)

W: 11.2.15b #1

350. Authority/control, meaning "under the authority of" (e.g. מַחַת יַד־פַּרְעֹה "under Pharaoh's authority" Gen. 41:35)

AC: 4.1.18c V: 39.21.1(ii) W: 11.2.15b #6

351. Identity of situation, to be rendered "in place, on the spot, right where...was" (e.g. יְעַמֵּדְנוּ הַחְהֵּינוּ "We will stay *right where* we *are*." 1 Sam. 14:9)

AC: 4.1.18b V: 39.21.1(iii) W: 11.2.15b

352. Exchange, to be translated "in place of, instead of" (e.g. מַחַח בְּנוּ "in place of his son" Gen. 22:13)

AC: 4.1.18d V: 39.21.2 W: 11.2.15b

353. Causal, with noun clauses introduced, meaning "because, because of" (e.g. וְחַחַת כִּי and *because* he loved your fathers" Deut. 4:37)

J: 170g V: 40.9.I.3 note 55

W: 38.4a #10

The Preposition בַּעֶר/בַּעֶר

355. Locative, meaning "behind, through" (e.g. וַיִּסְנְּרוֹ בַּעֲרָם "They shut [the door] behind them." Judg. 9:51)

AC: 4.1.7a V: 39.8.1 W: 11.2.7a #1

356. Advantage, meaning "on behalf of, for, for the sake of" (e.g. אֲכַפְּרָה בְּעַר חַפַּאתְּכֶם "Let me make atonement *for* your sin." Ex. 32:30)

AC: 4.1.7b V: 39.8.2 W: 11.2.7a #4

The Preposition אָדֶרי/אָדֶר

357. As the construct of the noun אָחָר (e.g. הַּהְנִית הַהְנִית יָבְהָּה אָבְנֵר בְּאַחֲרִי "Aber struck him with the butt of the spear." 2 Sam. 2:23)

J: 20c, 103a W: 9.6c, 11.1.1a

358. Locative, meaning "behind, after, with" (e.g. וְיֵלֶךְ יוֹסֵךְ אֲחַר אֶחָין "Joseph went after

his brothers." Gen. 37:17)

AC: 4.1.1a

V: 39.2.1a, b

W: 11.2.1a #1, 39.3.1g

359. Direction, meaning "west of" (e.g. אַחֲבִי קּרְיַת יְּעֶּרִים "west of Kiriath-jearim" Judg. 18:12)

AC: 4.1.1a

V: 39.2.1c

W: 11.2.1a #7

360. Temporal, meaning "after" (e.g. אָחַר הַדְּבָרִים הָאָלֵה "after these things" Gen. 15:1)

AC: 4.1.1b, 5.2.4

J: 104b, 166k

V: 39.2.2

W: 11.2.1a #3-4, 36.2.2b, 38.7a, 39.3.1h

361. Adversative, meaning "against to the disadvantage of" (e.g. יּבְעַרְהִּי אַחֶרֶיךּ "I will sweep you away." 1 Kgs. 21:21)

W: 11.2.1a #5-6

362. Norm, meaning "in accordance with, after the manner of" (e.g. הּלְכִים אַחַר רוּחָם "walking in accordance with their own spirit" Ezek. 13:3)

AC: 4.1.1c

V: 39.2.1b

W: 11.2.1a #2

The Preposition ישן

363b. Causal, meaning "because, because of" (e.g. יַען לֹא־הָאֶמִנְהֶּם בִּי "because you have not believed in me" Num. 20:12)

AC: 4.1.8, 5.2.5

G: 158b

J: 170f

V: 40.9.I.3 note 55

W: 5.6d, 11.2.8 a, 36.2.2b, 38.4a, 39.3.4d

The Preposition לְמַעֵן

364. Compound preposition

W: 11.3.1a

365. Advantage, meaning "for the sake of, for" (e.g. לְמַעַן שָׁמִי אַאָּרִיךְּ אָפִּר "For the sake of my own name, I defer my anger." Isa. 48:9)

366. Causal, meaning "on account of, because of" (e.g. וַיִּהְעַבֵּר יְהוָה בִּי לְמַעַנְכֶּם "YHWH was angry at me *because of* you." Deut. 3:26)

AC: 4.1.11b W: 5.6d

367. Purpose, meaning "in order that" (e.g. לְּמֵעֵן יִימַב־לִּי בַעֲבוּרֶךְ "in order that it go well with me on account of you" Gen. 12:13)

AC: 4.1.11a, 5.2.3a, c

G: 165b

J: 168d

V: 39.12.1 (i), 40.13.1

W: 31.6.1c, 36.2.2b #12b, 38.3b-c

368. Result, meaning with the result that, thus ...ing, therefore" (e.g. לְמַעַן הַּמִּי אַהְף לְשַׁבְּּה "Therefore I will hand you over to destruction." Mic. 6:16)

AC: 3.4.1d, 5.2.3b

J: 169g

V: 39.12.2

W: 36.2.2b, 40.13.2

The Preposition לְבֵנֵי

369. Compound preposition

G: 119c

W: 11.1.1a, 11.3.1a

370. Locative, meaning "in front of, before" (e.g. עמֶד לִּפְנֵי יְהוָה "standing before YHWH" Gen. 18:22)

AC: 4.1.12a

V: 39.13.1

W: 11.3.1a

371. Temporal, meaning "before" (e.g. שֶׁנְתִיִם לִּפְנֵי הָרְעֵשׁ "two years *before* the earthquake" Amos 1:1)

AC: 4.1.12b, 5.2.4b

J: 166k

V: 39.13.2

W: 11.3.1a

372. Viewpoint, meaning " in the sight of, before" (e.g. מֶה־חַשָּאתִי לִּפְנֵי אָבִיךְ "What is my sin *before* my father?" 1 Sam. 20:1)

AC: 4.1.12c

W: 11.3.1a

373. Comparison, meaning "like, as" (e.g. יְדַכְּאוּם לִּבְּנֵי־עָשׁ "They crush them *like* a moth." Job 4:19)

W: 11.3.1a

The Preposition מפני

374. Compound preposition

G: 119c

W: 11.1.1a, 11.3.1a

375. Locative, meaning "from, from before" (e.g. אָנֹכִי בַּרַחַת אָנֹכִי הָּבֶרְהִּי אָנֹכִי הָּבֶרְהִי "I am fleeing from Sarai, my mistress." Gen. 16:8)

AC: 4.1.14a

V: 39.15.1

W: 11.1.1a, 11.3.1a

376. Causal, meaning "because, because of" (e.g. מַלְאָה הָאָרֶץ הָמֶס מִפְּנֵיהֶם "The earth is full of violence *because of* them." Gen. 6:13)

AC: 4.1.14c

J: 170i

V: 39.15.2

W: 11.3.1a

B. ADVERBS

The Adverb

378. Addition, meaning "also" (e.g. בֶּרֶכֵנִי נַם־אָנִי אָבִי "Bless me, me *also*, my father!" Gen. 27:34)

W: 39.3.4d

379. Emphatic or asseverative, meaning "even, just" (e.g. אָם לֹא יַאֲמִינוּ נַם לִשְׁנֵי הָאֹחוֹת הָאֵלֶּה "if they will not believe *even* these two signs" Ex. 4:9)

W: 39.3.4c

380. Rhetorical, meaning "yes, even" (e.g. נֵם־בָּרוּךְּ יִהְיֶה "Yes, and he will be blessed!" Gen. 27:33)

AC: 5.2.9

G: 153, 154 note 1

V: 41.4.5.2

W: 39.3.4d

381. Correlative, meaning "on one's part" (e.g. וְנֵם אָנֹכִי הִשְּׁאִלְּהָהוּ לֵיהוָה "And *on* my *part*, I have lent him to YHWH." 1 Sam. 1:28)

V: 41.4.5.2 W: 39.3.4d

382. Concessive, meaning "although, even though" (e.g. בְּחֶנוּנִי נַּם רָאוּ בְּּעֶבֶׁר "They tested me, even though they saw my work." Ps. 95:9)

AC: 4.2.5c, 5.2.12

G: 160b J: 171a, c

The Adverb אַר

384. Addition, meaning "also" (e.g. אָר־אָנִי בַּחֱלוֹמִי "I also had a dream." Gen. 40:16)

AC: 4.2.4a, 5.2.9

V: 41.4.3.a

W: 39.3.4d #7

385. Emphatic, meaning "even, really" (e.g. הַאַף שוֹנֵא מִשְׁפָּט יַחֲבוֹש "Will one who hates justice *really* rule?" Job 34:17)

AC: 4.2.4a, 5.2.9

V: 41.4.3.a

W: 39.3.4c-d#7

386. Rhetorical, meaning "yes, even" (e.g. יִהְרוֹשֲעוּ אַף־יָשִׁירוּ "They shout for joy, *yes*, they sing!" Ps. 65:14)

AC: 4.2.4b, 5.2.9

387. A fortiori, followed by בְּילְבְּלוֹף אָר, meaning "how much more/less" (e.g. הַּשָּׁמִים לֹא יְכַלְבְּלוֹף אָך "The heavens cannot contain you; how much less this house!" 1 Kgs. 8:27)

AC: 4.2.4c

V: 41.4.3.c

W: 39.3.4d #8-9

The Adverb ፣ል

388. Restrictive, meaning "only, however" (e.g. נַאָרַבְּרָה אַן־הַפַּעַם "But let me speak *only* this once." Gen. 18:32)

AC: 4.2.2a, 5.2.7, 5.2.8

G: 153

V: 41.4.2

W: 39.3.5d

389. Asseverative, meaning "surely" (e.g. אָךְ שֹּרֶךְ שֹּרֶךְ שֹּרֶךְ שֹּרֶךְ שֹּרֶךְ שֹּרֶךְ שִּרְךְ שֹּרֶךְ שִּרְךּ שֹּרֶךְ שִּרְךּ שִּרְךּ שִּרְךּ שִּרְךּ שִּרְךּ שִּרְךּ שִּרְךּ שִּרְרִּ שִּרְרִּ שִּרְרִּ שִּרְרִּ שִּרְּעִּי (e.g. אַדְּיִּ שִּרְרָּ שִּרְרָּ שִּרְּעִּי הַיּבּוּע "He has surely been torn in pieces." Gen. 44:28)

AC: 4.2.2b, 5.3.3d

J: 164a, g

V: 41.3.3

W: 39.3.5d #11

The Adverb רַק

390. Restrictive or exceptive, meaning "only" (e.g. בְּקָהָ אֶּנְדֵּל מְפֶּהְ "Only with regard to the throne will I be greater than you." Gen. 41:40)

AC: 4.2.15

G: 153

V: 41.3.10, 41.4.10

W: 39.3.5c #1-2

AC: 4.2.15b, 5.2.7, 5.2.8, 5.3.3d

J: 164a, g

V: 41.3.10

W: 39.5.5c #3

392. Exceptive or limitative, following a negative, meaning "except, but only" (e.g. לֹא "None was left *except* the tribe of Judah." 2 Kgs. 17:18)

AC: 4.2.15a, 5.2.7, 5.2.8

V: 41.4.10

393. Emphatic in the phrase רַק אָם־שָׁמוֹעַ הִּשְּׁמֵע (e.g. רַק אָם־שָׁמוֹעַ הִּשְּׁמֵע (if *only* you will listen" Deut. 15:5)

C. NEGATIVES

394. Double negatives denoting a strong negative (e.g. הַמְבָּלִי אֵין־קְבָּרִים "Was it because there were *no* graves?" Ex. 14:11)

G: 152y

The Negative לא

395. Objective denial of a fact, meaning "no, not" (e.g. לֹא שָׁשָה "He did *not* look with favor." Gen. 4:5)

AC: 4.2.11

G: 152a-b, e

J: 160b

V: 41.5.8(i)

W: 38.3c, 39.3.3a

396. Prohibition, meaning "must not, shall not" (e.g. לֹא תַּנְאָךְ "You shall *not* eat from it." Gen. 2:17)

AC: 4.2.11, 5.3.5a

G: 107o

J: 113m

V: 41.5.8(ii)

W: 31.5d, 34.2.1b

- 397. To negate a gerundive infinitive, meaning "should not, is not to be" (e.g. הָס כִּי לֹאַ "Hush! For the name of YHWH is *not* to be mentioned." Amos 6:10) W: 36.2.1g
- 398. Elliptic, meaning 'No.' (e.g. יֵיֹאבֶּר לֹא כִּי צָחָקְתְּ "He said, 'No, but you did laugh.' " Gen. 2:17)

AC: 5.3.6d

G: 150n, 152c, 159dd

V: 41.5.8(i)

W: 39.3.3a note 59

399. To negate a predicate that is not a verb, meaning "not" (e.g. לֹא בָאַשׁ יְהוָה "YHWH was *not* in the fire." 1 Kgs. 19:12)

AC: 4.2.11, 5.3.5b

G: 152d

J: 160b-d, k, oa

V: 41.5.8(iii)

W: 18.1d note 2, 37.5f, 39.3.2a

400. Privative, meaning "without, lacking, un-" (e.g. לֹא חָכָם "without wisdom" Hos.

13:13)

G: 152u

J: 160o

V: 41.5.8(iii)

The Negative אַל

401. Negative wish/volition, meaning "not" (e.g. אַל־אֶרְאֶה בְּמוֹת הַיָּלֶּר "May I *not* see the boy's death!" Gen. 21:16)

AC: 4.2.3b

G: 152f

J: 114c, i

V: 41.5.3(ii)

W: 34.5.1a, 34.3.3a #2

402. With a jussive, expressing prohibition, meaning "not" (e.g. אַלְ־תִּירָא אַבְרֶם "Do not fear, Abram!" Gen. 15:1)

AC: 3.3.1d, 4.2.3a, 5.3.5a

G: 107p, 109c, e, 152f

J: 113m, 114g, i, 160f

V: 19.4.2(1), 19.4.4(i), 41.5.3(i)

W: 34.3, 34.2.1b note 6, 34.4a, 39.3.3a

403. Elliptic, meaning "no" (e.g. אַל בְּוֹחֵי "No, my daughters." Ruth 1:13)

stands for "No, do not return with me to my people."

AC: 5.3.6d

G: 152g

V: 41.5.3(iii)

W: 39.3.3a note 59

404. Negative obligation, followed by of obligated person, meaning "not, should not" (e.g. אַל לַמְלַכִּים שָׁתוֹ־יַיֵין "It is *not* for kings to drink wine." Prov. 31:4)

G: 152f

405. As a substantive, meaning "nothing" (e.g. יְיָשֵׁם לְאַל מִלְּחָי "and make my word nothing" Job 24:25)

The Negative אֵין/אַיִן

406. אַין as a substantive, meaning "nothing" (e.g. בְּאַיִן נֶנְדּוֹ "as *nothing* before him" Isa. 40:17)

G: 141k

J: 160g

407a. אֵין־חֵלֶּק לַלְוִיִם in the construct state is אֵין. meaning "there is no" (e.g. אֵין־חֵלֶק לַלְוִיִם "There is no portion for the Levites." Josh. 18:7)

AC: 5.3.5b

G: 152i, l, o

J: 154k, 160h

V: 41.5.2(ii)

W: 37.5f, 39.3.3b

407b. Negative אֵין, meaning "not" (e.g. אֶת־הַיִּרְהַן "I will *not* pass over the Jordan." Deut. 4:22)

AC: 4.4.1c

G: 116q, 141k, 152m

J: 160g-i

V: 41.5.2(i)

W: 39.3.3b

408. אַין to deny the existence of a substantive, meaning "there is no" (e.g. יְאָרֶם אַין "There was no man." Gen. 2:5)

AC: 4.4.1a, 5.3.4b

G: 152k

J: 154k, 160g

V: 41.5.2(ii)

W: 37.5f, 39.3.3b

409. Elliptic אָין, meaning "there is no" (e.g. יְאַין "but they were not there" 1 Sam. 9:4) (יְאַין stands for the clause 'the donkeys were not there.')

AC: 5.3.6d

- 410a. To deny a possibility, with an infinitive construct, meaning "it is impossible" (e.g. אָרן לְשֵׁמוֹר לְפָּנֵיךְ "It is impossible to stand before you." Ezra 9:15)
- 410b. To deny a permission, with an infinitive construct, meaning "it is not permitted" (e.g. אֵין לֶבוֹא אֶל־שַׁעַר הַמְּלֶן "It is not permitted to enter the gate of the king." Esth. 4:2)

W: 36.2.3f

411. Privative, meaning "without, lack of, un-" (e.g. לְאֵין מְסְפָּר "without number" 1 Chr. 22:4)

J: 160o

V: 41.5.2(ii)

The Negative בַל

412. Mostly confined to poetry

G: 152t

J: 160m

413. Objective denial of a fact, meaning "no, not" (e.g. בַּל־יָדְעוּם "They have *not* known them." Ps. 147:20)

G: 152t

J: 160m

V: 41.5.4

414. To negate a predicate adjective or a prepositional phrase, meaning "not" (e.g. בֵּל־עָמָּן "not with you" Prov. 23:7)

G: 152t J: 160m

V: 41.5.4

- 415. Negative wish, meaning "not" (e.g. וּבַל־אֶּלְחַם "Let me not eat...." Prov. 23:7)
- 416. With a construct infinitive (e.g. בֵּל קְרֹב אֵּלֶיף "It will *not* approach you." Ps. 32:9) W: 38.3c #15

The Negative בַּלִי

417. Mostly confined to poetry

J: 160m

W: 36.2.1g

418. Objective denial of a fact, meaning "no, not" (e.g. אֹטֶךְ בְּלִי יָבוֹא "The harvest will *not* come." Isa. 32:10)

G: 152t

J: 160m

V: 41.5.5

419. To negate a passive participle, meaning "not" (e.g. בָּלִי נָשָׁמָע "not heard" Ps. 19:3)

G: 152t

J: 160m

V: 41.5.5

420. Privative, meaning "lacking, without, un-" (e.g. בְּלִי-מָיִם "without water" Job 8:11)

G: 152t

J: 160m

V: 41.5.5

The Negative לְבַלֹחִי/בְּלְחִי

421. Privative בְּלְהֵי שָהוֹר הוּא, meaning "lacking, without, un-" (e.g. בְּלְהִי שָהוֹר הוּא "He is *un*clean." 1 Sam. 20:26)

G: 152t

J: 160m

V: 41.5.6

422. Exceptive or limitative בְּלְתִּי meaning "except, unless, only" (e.g. אֵין בָּלְתֵּף "There is no one *except* you." 1 Sam. 2:2)

AC: 5.2.7

G: 163c

J: 173a

V: 41.4.6(i)

W: 38.6b

423. To negate an construct infinitive, meaning "not" (e.g. צַּוִּיתִידְּ לְבַלְהֵּי אֲבֶל־מָמֶּנוּ "I commanded you *not* to eat from it." Gen. 3:11)

AC: 5.3.5c

G: 114s, 152t

J: 124e, 1601

V: 41.5.6(i)a

W: 36.2.1g, 39.3.3a

424. To negate a purpose or result, with the preposition, meaning "so that not" (e.g. לְבַלְתִּי הַחֲשָאוּ "so that you will not sin" Ex. 20:20)

AC: 5.2.3c, 5.3.5c

G: 165b

J: 124e, 168c, 169d

V: 41.5.6(i)a

W: 31.6.1c, 38.3c #15

The Negative אֶפֶּס

425. As a substantive, meaning "nothing" (e.g. יְּבֶאֶבֶּם "and like *nothing*" Isa. 41:12)

G: 152s

V: 41.4.4(ii)a-b

426. Privative, meaning "lacking, without, un-, there is no" (e.g. מֶקוֹם "until *there is no* room" Isa. 5:8)

G: 152s

J: 160n

427. Restrictive, meaning "only, however" (e.g. וְאֶבֶּס אֶת־הַדְּבֶר "but *only* the word" Num. 22:35)

AC: 5.2.7, 5.2.8

G: 163c

J: 173a

V: 41.4.4(i)

W: 39.3.5e

The Negative מה

428. Rhetorical question, implying "not" (e.g. מַה־הָּעִרְרוּ אֶת־הָאַהָּבָה "What? Will you arouse or awaken love?" Song 8:4)

W: 40.3a

D. CONJUNCTIONS

The Conjunction

430. Co-ordinative/conjunctive, meaning "and, *untranslated*" (e.g. אָלה אָלל וּשְהַה "Go, eat, *and* drink." 1 Kgs. 18:41)

AC 4.3.3b

G: 154a

J: 104a

V: 40.8.1(i)

W: 39.2.1 b #1-3, 39.2.5

431. Disjunctive, meaning "and" (e.g. עץ הַדַּעַת מוֹב וְרָע "the tree of the knowledge of good and evil" Gen. 2:17)

V: 40.8.1(i)c

A) Continuity of scene and participants

Specifying contemporary circumstances, meaning "with, while"

AC 4.3.3d

J: 166e, f

W: 39.2.3b #3-5

Specifying cause, meaning "since, because"

W: 39.2.3b #6-7

Providing a comparison, meaning "so"

W: 39.2.3b #8-9

B) Shift in scene or participants, meaning "now"

Interruptive/explanatory/parenthetical, meaning "now"

W: 39.2.3c

432. Adversative, meaning "but, nevertheless" (e.g. אָמִיהָן לֹא אָמִיהָן "You deserve to die, but at this time I will not kill you." 1 Kgs. 2:26)

AC: 4.3.3a, 5.2.10

G: 163a, 500

J: 172a

V: 40.8.1(iv)

W: 8.3b #10-11, 39.2.3b #1-2

433. Alternative, meaning "or, nor" (e.g. שָׁנִיִם שָׁלֹשָה סָרָסִים "two or three eunuchs" 2 Kgs.

```
9:32)
AC 4.3.3c, 5.2.14
J: 175a-b
V: 40.8.1(ii)
W: 39.2.1b #5
```

434. Explicative/epexegetical, meaning "even, namely, that is, especially" (e.g. מְבְּבֹרוֹת "some of the firstborn of his flock, *specifically* some of their fat portions." Gen. 4:4)

AC 4.3.3d

G: 154a, note b

V: 40.8.2(vii)

W: 39.2.1b #6, 39.2.4b-c

435. Pleonastic, used stylistically and is sometimes superfluous, *untranslated* (e.g. וַהַשֶּׁב "Tamar sat desolate." 2 Sam. 13:20)

V: 40.8.3

436. Accompaniment, meaning "with, along with" (e.g. הַהְמַשׁ נַעֲרֹהֶיהָ "She rose on her donkey, accompanied by her five female servants." 1 Sam. 25:42)

AC: 4.3.3e, 5.2.11

G: 141e, 142d, 154a, note b

J: 150p

V: 40.8.1(i)

W: 39.2.3a #3-4

437. Comparative, meaning "as, likewise, so" (e.g. מֵים קָרִים עַל־נֶבֶּשׁ עֲיֵבָּה וּשְׁמוּעָה מוֹבָה מֵאֶרֶץ "[Like] cold water to a weary soul, so is good news from a far away land."

Prov. 25:25)

G: 161a

J: 174h

V: 40.8.2(vi)

W: 39.2.3a #8-9

438. Emphatic, meaning "and especially, even, yea" (e.g. נְאַשְלֶה בְּצִשׁ מַחֲנֵיכֶם וּבְאַבְּכֶם מַחֲנֵיכֶם וּבְאַבְּכֶם "I will make the stench of your camp ascend *even* into your nostrils." Amos 4:10)

G: 154a note 1

J: 177n

W: 39.2.1b #7, 39.2.4b #4

439. Sarcastic, *untranslated* (e.g. מָּר אֲבִיהֶם "*And just* who is their father?" 1 Sam. 10:12) J: 177m

440. Resumptive, meaning "then, untranslated" (e.g. בִּיוֹם אֶכַלְכֶם מְמֵנוּ וָנִפְקְחוּ עֵינֵיכֶם "In the

```
day you eat from it, your eyes will be opened." Gen. 3:5)
       AC: 4.3.3f
       G: 143d
       J: 167b, 176
       V: 21.3.3
       W: 32.2.1b, 38.2b
441. Adjunctive, meaning "also" (e.g. יְשַׁאֵלִי־לוֹ אָת־הָמְּלוּכָה "Ask for him the kingdom
     also!" 1 Kgs. 2:22)
       G: 154a note c
       J: 177m
       V: 40.8.1(iii)
442. Distributive, meaning "each, every" (e.g. לְשֵׁעֶר וְשֵׁעֶר "for every gate" 1 Chr. 26:13)
       G: 123c
        W: 7.2.3b
Succession, meaning "and then"
         J: 115c, 127,166a, b
Negation, with ילא, meaning "nor, neither"
         J:160oa, p
Nominalizing, meaning "that"
       J: 118b
       W: 38.1f
Purpose or Result, a volitional form followed by and imperfect, meaning "so that"
        J: 116, 177a
        W: 39.2.2; see also 34.6, 39.2.5
Phrasal waw pointed as indicates a close bond between the parts of the phrase
       W: 39.2.1b #8
Concessive, meaning "although, even though"
       J: 171f
of Emotion, expresses nuance of emotion rather than a logical link
       J: 177m
The Conjunction או
443. Alternative, meaning "or" (e.g. אוֹ־בֶּן יָנֶּה אוֹ־בֶּן יָנֶּה "whether it gores a son or it gores
     a daughter" Ex. 21:31)
       AC: 4.3.1, 5.2.14
```

G: 104c, 150g, i, 159cc, 162 J: 148c note 3, 161e, 175a, d V: 31.1.2, 31.1.3(ii), 40.3 W: 39.2.6b

The Conjunction כִּי

444. Causal, meaning "because" (e.g. בֵּי עָשִׂיתְ זֹאֹת "because you have done this" Gen.

3:14)

AC 4.3.4e, 5.2.5

G: 158b

J: 170d-da

V: 40.9.I.3

W: 38.4a #1-2

445. Temporal, meaning "when" (e.g. בִּי־אָרְאֶה שָׁמֶיךְ "When/as often as I see your heavens" Ps. 8:4)

AC 4.3.4e, 5.2.5a-b

G: 164d

J: 1660

V: 40.9.I.2

W: 38.7a

446. Conditional, introducing the protasis, meaning "if" (e.g. יְבִי־תֹאֹמְרוֹן אֵלֵי "but if you will say to me" 2 Kgs. 18:22)

AC: 4.3.4f, 5.2.2a-b

G: 159aa-bb

J: 167c, f, i, q, s

V: 40.9.I.1

W: 31.6.1b, 32.2.1b, 38.2d #4-5

447. Adversative, meaning "but, rather, instead" (e.g. לא יַשְלָב וַאָּמֶר עוֹד שָּמְךּ כִּי אָם־יִשְׁרָאֵל "
Your name will no longer be called Jacob, but Israel." Gen. 32:29)

AC: 4.3.4g, 5.2.10

G: 163a-b

J: 172c

V: 40.9.II.3

448. Concessive, meaning "though, in spite of, even if" (e.g. בּי־יִפּל לֹא־יוּטָל "Though he falls, he will not be thrown." Ps. 37:24)

AC: 4.3.4h, 5.2.12

G: 160b

J: 171a-c

449. Asseverative, "certainly, indeed, surely" (e.g. בָּי מְרַנְּלִים אַהֶּם "You are *indeed* spies." Gen. 42:16)

AC: 4.3.4(i), 5.3.2

G: 159ee

J: 164b-c, 165a, a, g, i, 167s

V: 40.9.II.5, 41.3.9(i)

W: 40.2.2b

450. Resultative, meaning "that, so that" (e.g. מָה־אֲנוֹשׁ כִּי־תִּזְכְּרָנוּ "What is man that you think of him?" Ps. 8:5)

AC: 4.3.4d, 5.2.3b

G: 107u, 166b

J: 169e

V: 40.9.II.4

W: 38.3b #9-11

451a. Nominalizing, meaning "that" (e.g. יַיִרָא אֱלֹהִים כִּי־טוֹב "God saw that it was good."

Gen. 1:10)

AC 4.3.4j-k, 5.2.1a-c

G: 157a-b

J: 157a, c-ca

V: 40.9.II.1

W: 38.8b #4

451b. After the interrogative particle, meaning "is it (not) the case that?" (e.g. הַלוֹא כִּי אָנֹכִי "Is it not the case that I have commanded you?" 2 Sam. 13:28)

AC: 4.3.4l, n

452. Recitative, *quotation marks* (e.g. יַאמֶר חֲזָהאֵל כִּי מלה עַבְדְּךְ "Hazael said, 'What is your servant?' " 2 Kgs. 8:13)

AC: 4.3.41 5.2.1c

G: 157b

J: 157c

Exceptive, meaning "unless"

AC 4.3.4m

W: 38.6b #2-4

As an accusative, meaning "that"

AC 5.2.1c

W: 38.8d #13

Restrictive, meaning "rather"

AC 4.3.4g

W: 39.3.5d #16

The Conjunction □x

453. Conditional, meaning "if" (e.g. אָם יַשֶּׁבְנוּ פֿה "And if we stay here" 2 Kgs. 7:4)

AC: 4.3.2a, 5.2.2a

G: 159l-v, dd

J: 165a, c, f-j, 167c, f-h, p-q

V: 19.4.1, 40.5.1, 40.9.I,1

W: 31.6.1b, 38.2d #1-3

454. Concessive, meaning "although, even though" (e.g. אָם־וַעֲמֹד מֹשֶׁה וּשְׁמוּאֵל לְפָנִי "though Moses and Samuel were to stand before me" Jer. 15:1)

AC: 4.3.2b, 5.2.12

G: 160a

J: 171a, d

V: 40.5.2

455. Alternative, meaning "or" (e.g. הֲלְנוּ אַהָּה אָם־לְצֶרֵינוּ "Are you for us *or* our foes?" Josh. 5:13)

AC: 4.3.2c, 5.3.1b

G: 150g-i

J: 161e-f, 175c

V: 40.5.3

W: 18.1c, 40.3b

456. In oaths and exclamations, meaning "if, not" (e.g. הַּמֶּלֶךְ אָם־יָדֶעְהִי "By your life, O king, *if* I know." 1 Sam. 17:55)

AC: 4.3.2e-f, 5.3.2

G: 149

J: 165a, c-d, f-k

V: 40.5.4, 41.3.6(i)

W: 40.2.2a-c

עד. Pleonastic, used stylistically and is sometimes superfluous, *untranslated* (e.g. עד "until we have brought them" Num. 32:17)

J: 164c

458. Optative, meaning "if only, Oh that!" (e.g. אָם־בָּרֶךְ הְּבָרֶכֵנִי "Oh that you would bless me!" 1 Chr. 4:10)

AC: 5.3.3a

G: 151e

J: 163c

W: 40.2.2d

Addition, meaning "with, along with, and"

W: 11.2.14b #4

Marking personal complement, meaning "with, to"

W: 11.2.14b #5-7

Adversative, meaning "against"

W: 11.2.14b #8

Marking the locus of psychological interest, meaning "with, in"

W: 11.2.14b #9-10

Marking the end point of an action, meaning "beside, at"

W: 11.2.14c #11

Used in compartive constructions, rendered "like"

W: 11.2.14c #12

The Conjunction לוּלֵי/לוּלָא) לוּ

459a. Unreal condition לְא/לוּ, meaning "if" (e.g. עלָה ... עלָה ... עלָה ... לּהְלָכָּקה יהנָה לַהְבִּץ יְהנָה לַאָּ־לָכָּקה ... עלָה ... עלָה "If YHWH had wanted to kill us, he would not have taken ... the offering." Judg.

13:23)

AC: 5.2.2b

G: 1591-m, x-z

J: 167f, k

V: 19.2.1(iii), 40.10

W: 31.6.1b, 38.2e

459b. Negative unreal condition לּוּלֵי פְּנֵי יְהוֹשֶׁפְּט אֲנִי נֹשֵׁא, meaning "if not" (e.g. לּוּלֵי פְּנֵי יְהוֹשֶׁפָט אֲנִי נֹשֵׁא "If I did not respect Jehoshaphat ... I would not look at you." 2 Kgs. 3:14)

AC: 5.2.2b

G: 1591-m, x-z

J: 29h, 167f, k

V: 40.11

W: 31.6.1b, 38.2e

460. Optative, meaning "if only, Oh that!" (e.g. לּוֹ יְהִי כִּדְבֶּרֶךְ "May it be as you have said!" Gen. 30:34)

AC: 5.3.3a

G: 151e

J: 163c

V: 40.10

W: 38.2e, 40.2.2d

The Conjunction

461. Negative purpose, meaning "lest, beware lest, in order not" (e.g. אֶּהְכֶּם חַזְּקְיָהוּ "Beware lest Hezekiah mislead you." Isa. 36:18)

AC: 4.3.5, 5.2.3c

G: 107q, 152w

J: 168g-h

V: 40.14

W: 31.6.1c #7, 38.3c, 39.3.3a

E. RELATIVE PARTICLES

The Particle אָשֶׁר

463a. Relative, meaning "who, whom, which" (e.g. הַּמְּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר אַהָּה עוֹמֵר עלְיו "the place on which you are standing" Ex. 3:5)

AC: 5.2.13

G: 36, 138a-d, 155

J: 38, 130e-fa, 145a, 158e-k

V: 36.3.1, 40.6.1

W: 19.3a-b

463b. Independent relative, meaning "he who, what, etc." (e.g. יְמָאָטֶר לְאָבִינוּ "from what belonged to our father" Gen. 31:1)

AC: 5.2.1a, c

G: 139e-f, 155

J: 145a, 157a, c-ca, f, 158l-m

V: 36.3.1(i)

W: 19.3c

464. Nominalizing, meaning "that" (e.g. נַיַרָא שָׁאוּל אֲשֶׁר־הוּא מַשְּׁכִּיל מְאֹד "Saul saw that he was very successful." 1 Sam. 18:15)

G: 157c

J: 157a, c-ca, 1581-m

V: 40.6.2

W: 27.3b, 38.8

465. Result, meaning "with the result that, so that" (e.g. אָשֶׁר לֹא־הָיֵה בְמוֹךְ אִישׁ "with the result that there is no one like you" 1 Kgs. 3:13)

AC: 5.2.3b-c

G: 166b

J: 169f

V: 40.6.3

W: 38.3b-c

466. Purpose, meaning "in order that, so that" (e.g. אָשֶׁר יִיטַב לְּיֹּף "in order that it go well with you" Deut. 4:40)

AC: 5.2.3a, c

G: 165b

J: 168f

V: 40.6.4

W: 31.6.1c, 38.3b-c

467. Recitative, quotation marks (e.g. וַיֹּאמֶר־נְס הָעָם "He said, 'The people fled.' " 2

Sam. 1:4)

G: 157c

V:40.6.8

468. Causal, meaning "because" (e.g. אֲשֶׁר שָׁכְבָה עָלָיו "because she lay on him" 1 Kgs.

3:19)

AC: 5.2.5

G: 158a

J: 170e

V: 40.6.5

W: 38.4a #3

469. Conditional, meaning "if, when" (e.g. וְאָשֶׁר לֹא צָּרָה e.g. "but if he did not lie in wait" Ex. 21:13)

10.50

AC 5.2.2a

G: 159cc

J: 167j

V: 40.6.7

W: 38.2d #6

Equivalent to "when, in which" after words of time

W: 19.3b #10-12

Locative adverb

W: 19.3b #13-15

The Relative Particle ·ヴ/・ヴ

471. Relative, meaning "that" (e.g. בַּחוֹל שֶׁעֵל־שָׁפַת הַיָּם "like the sand which is on the seashore" Judg. 7:12)

AC: 5.2.13

G: 36, 155

J: 38, 104a, 145b

V: 36.3.2

W: 19.2a, 19.4a-b, 18.3e #37

472. Nominalizing, meaning "that" (e.g. וְּעָשִּיתָ לִּי אוֹת שָׁאַתָּה "Give to me a sign *that* it is you" Judg. 7:12)

W: 19.4b

- 473. Result, meaning "with the result that, so that" (e.g. שֶׁבֶּעְהָּה הַשְׁבַּעְהָּנוּ "that you adjure us thus" Song 5:9)
- 474. Causal, meaning "because" (e.g. שֶׁאַנִיקְנוּ "because I must leave it" Eccl. 2:18).

.

F. THE ACCUSATIVE PARTICLE אַת־/אַת

475b. Precedes a definite direct object (e.g. יֵיְבֶרֶךְּ אֹתְם אֱלֹהִים "God blessed them." Gen.

1:22)

AC: 2.3

G: 117a, c, e

J: 125e-ib

V: 33.1

W: 10.2.1c, 10.3.1a

475c. Precedes an indefinite direct object (e.g. יַיַעשׁ אֶת־בֵּית בָּמוֹת "He built *high-place* temples." 1 Kgs. 12:31)

G: 117d

J: 125h

W: 10.3.1b

475d-e. Precedes an (emphatic) accusative of specification (e.g. הֶלְה אֶת־רַגְּלָיו "He was diseased *in his feet*." 1 Kgs. 15:23)

J: 125j, 126g

W: 10.3.1c #31-33

475f. Precedes a determinative accusative (e.g. אָת־דְּבְרֵי עֵשֶׂוּ "Esau's words were told...." Gen. 27:42)

J: 125j, 126g

W: 10.3.1c

475g. Precedes a temporal accusative (e.g. מַצּוֹת יֵאָכֵל אָת שָׁבְעַת הַיָּמִים "Unleavened bread will be eaten *during the seven days*." Ex. 13:7)

J: 125i

W: 10.3.1c #29-30

475h. Precedes an accusative of material (e.g. נַתְּפֶּלֵא הַאָּרֶץ אֶת־הַמְּיִם "The land was filled with the water." 2 Kgs. 3:20)

W: 10.3.1c

Precedes complement accusatives (e.g. וֵיִּמְלֵא אֶת־הַחְכְמָה "And he was filled with wisdom." 1 Kgs. 7:14)

W:10.3.1c #21-22

Precedes datival accusatives (e.g. אֲדַבֶּר אוֹתְדְּ "I will speak to you." Ezek. 3:22) W:10.3.1c #23-26

Precedes a nominative absolute or noun in apposition (e.g. מַרְאֵיהֶם וְאוֹתֶם ... מַרְאֵיהֶם וְאוֹתֶם ... מַרְאֵיהֶם וְאוֹתֶם ... מַרְאֵיהֶם וְאוֹתְם ... מַרְאֵיהָם וְאוֹתְם ... "They were the faces ... their appearances and *they themselves*." Ezek. 10:22) W: 10.3.2

G. THE EXISTENTIAL PARTICLE

- 476. As a noun, meaning "wealth" (e.g. לְהַנְּחִיל ... יַשׁ "to inherit ... wealth" Prov. 8:21) G: 141k
- 477. Expressing existence, meaning "there is" (e.g. יְיֵדַע כִּי יֵשׁ נְבִיא "He will know that there is a prophet." 2 Kgs. 5:8)

AC: 4.4.2a, 5.3.4b

G: 152i

J: 154k

V: 42.3(i)

W: 4.5b #4, 10.3.2b, 37.5f #28

478. Expressing possession, meaning "wealth" (e.g. יֵשׁ־לָנוּ אָב זָקן "We have an old father." Gen. 44:20)

AC: 4.4.2b

479. Precedes the pronominal subject of a participle, *untranslated* (e.g. אָם־יֶשְׁדְּ־נָּא מַצְלִיתַ "if you will make my journey successful" Gen. 24:42)

AC: 4.4.2c

G: 116q

J: 1541

W: 37.6a #3-4

480. Expressing obligation, untranslated (e.g. הֵנֵשׁ לְדַבֶּר לְןׁ "Ought one to speak for you?"

2 Kgs. 4:13) W: 36.2.3f

481. Elliptic, meaning "there is" (e.g. הַלְּאָה וַתְּאַנֶינָה אוֹחָם וַתּאַמְרְנָה יֵשׁ "' 'Is there the seer in this place?' They answered, 'There is.' "1 Sam. 9:11-12)

IV. SYNTAX OF CLAUSES

G: 140-67 J: 153-77 V: 12

W: 8.1-8.4, 38-40

482. Parataxis – the use of a coordinating conjunction to begin a clause that is logically subordinate

G: 154 J: 177a W: 39.2.1c

A. SUBSTANTIVAL CLAUSES

483. Substantival/constituent/noun/nominal/verbless clause

AC: 5.1.1, 5.2.1

G: 140 J: 154, 157 W: 38.8

Nominative Substantival Clauses

484. Subject (e.g. וּלְשָׁאוּל הָנֵּד כִּי־נִמְלֵם דָּוִד מְקְעִילָה "That David had escaped from Keilah was told to Saul." 1 Sam. 23:13)

AC: 5.2.1a J: 157a W: 38.8b

485. Apposition to a nominative substantive (e.g. נְּטֶשְּׁתָה הַחִּוּעֲבֶּה "and if the report *that the abomination happened* is true and certain" Deut. 13:15)

G: 131a J: 131a, 157a W: 12.1-12.2, 38.8b

486. Predicate nominative (e.g. אָשֶׁר תַּעֲשֶׂה אֹתָה "And this is how you will make it." Gen. 6:15)

AC: 5.2.1a J: 157a W: 38.8b

487. Subject clause in an interrogative sentence (e.g. בָּרָה שָׁאוּל "Is it the case that there is someone left of Saul's house?" 2 Sam. 9:1)

AC: 5.2.1a J: 157a

488. Subject clause with an adjectival predicate (e.g. מוֹב אֲשֶׁר הָאֱהֶּוֹ בְּיָה "That you grasp this is good" Eccl. 7:18)

AC: 5.2.1a

Genitive Substantival Clauses

489. Genitive substantival clause (e.g. הָּחָלַת דְּבֶּר־יְהוָה "the beginning of YHWH speaking through Hosea" Hos. 1:2)

AC: 5.2.1b J: 129p-q W: 38.8c

Accusative Substantival Clauses

490. Direct object clause (e.g. רַעַת הַאָּדָם "YHWH saw that mankind's evil was great." Gen. 6:5)

AC: 5.2.1c G: 157 J: 157b-d W: 38.8d

491. Adverbial clause of manner, meaning "by...-ing" (e.g. הַרַע ... לֹא סָר "He did evil ... by not turning away." 2 Kgs. 13:11)

J: 177g W: 38.8d

- 492. Accusative of specification (e.g. יַנְאֶמֶר הַּיּוֹם ... שֵׁם־הַמְּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר ... שֵׁם־הַמְּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר ... יַנְאָמֶר הַיּוֹם "He called ... the name of the place ... as it is said today." Gen. 22:14)
- 493. Determinative accusative (e.g. נְיָנֵד לְּדָוִד אֶת אֲשֶׁר־עָשְׁהָה "What she did was told to David." 2 Sam. 21:11)

B. CIRCUMSTANTIAL CLAUSES

AC 5.2.11

G: 156 J: 159

494. Concomitant (e.g. בְּּיַהוָה "since it is YHWH's Passover" Ex. 12:11)

AC: 5.2.11

G: 141e, 142d-e, 156

J: 159

495a-b. Antecedent or subsequent (e.g. וַאָּבִימֶּלֶךְ לֹא קָרֶב אֵלֶיהָ וַיֹּאמֵר "Now Abimelech had not approached her, and he said...." Gen. 20:4)

AC: 5.2.11

C. TEMPORAL CLAUSES

AC: 5.2.4

G: 164

J: 166

W: 38.7

496. Beginning with an imperfect waw consecutive, meaning "when" (e.g. וַּחְבַל לְּדֵשְׁלְתוֹ "when she finished giving him a drink, she said...." Gen. 20:4)

AC: 5.2.4b

G: 111d, 164b

J: 166a-i, 167f-g

- 497. Beginning with פּי, meaning "when" (e.g. בְּיִּשְׁתֵּךְ הַיִּמְים וַיִּשְּׁתֵּךְ "when he had been there a long time, he looked down." Gen. 26:8)
- 499. Beginning with אָ, meaning "when" (e.g. נְתַן אַבְרֶהָם מַהְּנֹת בְּעוֹדֶנּוּ חַי "Abraham gave gifts while he was still alive." Gen. 25:6)
- 500a. Beginning with בְּמוֹ/ meaning "as soon as" (e.g. בְּלוֹט בְּלוֹט הַמַּלְאָכִים בְּלוֹט "As soon as down broke, the angels urged Lot." Gen. 19:15)
- 500b. Beginning with בְּאֲשֶׁר פָּלוּ ... וַיִּפְח הָאִישׁ נֶזֶם זְהָב, meaning "when" (e.g. וְיָהִי בַּאֲשֶׁר פָּלוּ ... וַיִּפְח הָאִישׁ נֶזֶם זְהָב "when they finished ... the man took a gold ring." Gen. 24:22)
- 501. Beginning with אַהַר/אַהְבי אָשֶר־כָּרְתוּ לָהֶם בְּרִית וַיִּשְּׁמְעוּ, meaning "after" (e.g. אָהָם בְּרִית וַיִּשְּׁמְעוּ "after they made a covenant with them, they heard...." Josh. 9:16)
- 502. Beginning with עד, meaning "until" (e.g. עד אָשֶׁר־בָּאתִי 'But I did not believe the report *until I came*." 1 Kgs. 10:7)
- 504. Beginning with בְּ + infinitive, meaning "when" (e.g. נְיָקֶם בַּשֶּׁדֶה וַיָּקָם בָּשֶּׁדֶה וַיָּקָם בְּשֶׁדָה וַיָּקָם בְּשֶׁדָה וַיָּקָם בְּשֶׁדָה וַיָּקָם בְּשֶׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וַיָּקָם בְּשֶׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיָקִם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בִּיּיוֹתָם בַּשֶּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בִּיּיִם בִּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בַּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בְּיִּבְּם בְּיִיבָּם בִּשְּׁדָה וּיִבְּם בִּיּשְׁדָה וּיִבְּם בְּיִיבָּם בִּיִּיבָם בִּיִּיבָם בִּיִּיבָם בִּיִּיבָם בִּיִּבְּם בִּיִּבְּם בִּיִבְּם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְּם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְּם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיבָּם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיּבְּיב בִּיּבְּם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיּבְּם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּבְם בִּיִּיבָם בִּיִּבָּם בִּיִּבְּיָם בְּיִיבָּם בִּיִּיבָם בִּיִּבְם בִּיּבְּים בִּיּבְּם בְּיִיבָּם בִּיּבְּם בִּיּבְיבָּם בִּיּיבָּם בְּיִיבְּם בִּיּבְּים בְּיִיבְם בִּיּבְּים בְּיִּבְּם בְּיִיבְם בִּיּבְּים בְּיִיבְּם בִּיּעִיבְם בּיִּבְּים בְּיִּבְּים בְּיִיבְּם בּיּבְּיבְּים בּיִּבְּים בּיִּבְּים בּיבְּיוֹבְם בּיּבְּיבָּם בּיבְּיבּים בּיבְּיבּם בּיבְּיבּם בּיבְּיבָּם בּיבְּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבָּים בּיבּים בּיבָּיבָּם בּיבְּיבָּם בּיבָּים בּיבְּיבָּים בּיבָּים בּיבָּים בּיבּיבּים בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבּים בּיבָּים בּיבָּים בּיבְּיבּים בּיבּים בּיבָּיבּים בּיבָּיבָם בּיבָּיבָּם בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבְּיבָּם בּיבָּיבְים בּיבָּיב בְּיבּים בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבָּיב בּיבּיבּים בּיבְּיבָּים בּיבּיבּיבּים בּיבּיבּיב בּיבָּיבּים בּי

were in the field, Cain rose up." Gen. 4:8)

- 505. Beginning with + infinitive, meaning "as soon as" (e.g. קהוֹצִיאָם אֹחָם הַחוּצָה וַיֹּאמֶר "As soon as they brought them out, he said...." Gen. 19:17)
- 506. Beginning with אַחֲבי + infinitive, meaning "after" (e.g. יַיַּצֵא מֶּלֶּךְ־סְרֹם ... אַחֲבי שׁוּבוֹ "The king of Sodom went out ... after he returned...." Gen. 14:17)
- 507. Beginning with לְּבְנֵי בוֹא־הַשֶּׁמֶשׁ אֶּטְעַם "+ infinitive, meaning "before" (e.g. בְּּבִי בוֹא־הַשֶּׁמֶשׁ אֶטְעַם "if I eat before the sun sets" 2 Sam. 3:35)
- 508. Beginning with עַד + infinitive, meaning "until" (e.g. יְשַׁבְתָּ עָבוּ עַד־שׁוָב אִף־אָחִיף "Stay with him ... until your brother's anger subsides" Gen. 27:44-45)
- 509. Beginning with בְּשֶׁרֶם/שֶּׁרֶם, meaning "before" (e.g. וְאֶרְאֶנּוּ בְּשֶׁרָם אָמוּת "I will see him before I die." Gen. 45:28)

AC: 5.2.4b G: 152r, 164c J: 104b, 160n V: 41.2.2

W: 38.7a

- 510. Beginning with מדי, meaning "as often as" (e.g. מָדֵי אֲדַבֶּר אֶּזְשֶׁק "As often as I speak, I cry out." Jer. 20:8)
- D. CONDITIONAL SENTENCES (if-then)

AC: 5.2.2 G: 159 J: 167

W: 38.2

Apodosis ('then')

511. Apodosis of a conditional clause, meaning "until" (e.g. אָם־הַשְּׁמֹאל וְאֵימְנָה "If [you choose] the left, then I will go right." Gen. 13:9)

AC: 4.2.1c J: 167a

V: 40.4.1

Protasis ("if") – Real Condition

512. Beginning with ְ (e.g. אֶת־אָבִיו וָמֵת "If he leaves his father, he will die." Gen. 44:22)

J: 167b V: 21.3.4(ii)

- 513. Circumstantial clause (e.g. הָנֶה אָבֶר בָא מָה אֹבֶר "*If I come* ... then what will I say to them?" Ex. 3:13)
- 514. Beginning with הַן (e.g. הַן יִשַׁלַּח אִישׁ אֶת־אִשְׁתּוֹ "If a man divorces his wife" Jer. 3:1)

AC: 5.2.2a

J: 1671

V: 44.2

W: 38.2d #7

515. Beginning with the particle בָּי, אָם, or אָשֶׁר הָשְּׁמְעוּ אֶל-ֹמִצְוֹת יְהוָה (e.g. אָשֶׁר הָשְׁמְעוּ אֶל-ֹמִצְוֹת יְהוָה (fyou obey YHWH's commands" Deut. 11:17)

Protasis ("if") – Unreal Condition

- 516a-c. Beginning with לוב'י לוב'א, לוא/לָא/לוי, or אָנִי נשֵׁא (e.g. אָנִי נשֵׁא ... אָנִי נשֵׁא "if I did not respect Jehoshaphat" 2 Kgs. 3:14)
- 517. Unreal condition with אָם or אָם (e.g. בּי אָמַרְהִּי יֶשׁ־לִּי חָקְנָה "if I said that I had hope" Ruth 1:12)

E. PURPOSE CLAUSES (in order that)

AC: 5.2.3a, c

G: 165

J: 168

W: 38.3

- 518. Beginning with מוֹן and a jussive or cohorative (e.g. וְיֵרָא אֲלֵיכֶם כְּבוֹד יְהוָה "in order that YHWH's glory appear to you" Lev. 9:6)
- 519. Beginning with ְ and an imperative (e.g. פְּנוּ־אֵלֵי וְהוְשְׁעוּ "Turn to me *in order that you* be saved!" Isa. 45:22)
- 520. Beginning with לְמַעַן הַאָּיל אֹתוֹ and an infinitive construct (e.g. לְמַעַן הַאָּיל "in order to rescue him" Gen. 37:22)
- 521. Beginning with לְמַעַן and an imperfect (e.g. נְשְׁמֶע לְמַעַן אֲשֶׁר יִימַב־לְנוּ "We will obey in order that it go well with us." Jer. 42:6)
- 522a-b. Beginning with לְבַעֲבוּר and an imperfect or לְבַעֲבוּר and an infinitive construct (e.g. "בַּעֲבוּר הַקוֹר אָת־הַעִיר "in order to spy out the city" 2 Sam. 10:3)

AC: 5.2.3a G: 165b V: 40.7

- 523. Beginning with אָשֶר (e.g. אָשֶר יֵדְעוּן ... אָשֶׁר יִי will begin to make you great ... in order that they know" Josh. 3:7)
- 524. Negative purpose, meaning "in order that not" (e.g. לְמַעַן לֹא־יִהְעוּ "in order that they not stray" Ezek. 14:11)

F. RESULT CLAUSES (with the result that)

AC: 5.2.3b-c

G: 166

J: 169

W: 38.3

- 525. Beginning with a waw consecutive or simple waw (e.g. וַיִּסְקְלֶּהוּ בָאֲבָנִים וַיָּמֹת "They stoned him with stones with the result that he died" 1 Kgs. 21:13)
- 526. Beginning with לְמַעַן טַמֵּא אֶת־מִקְדָשִׁי "and an infinitive construct (e.g. לְמַעַן טַמֵּא אֶת־מִקְדָשִׁי "thereby defiling my sanctuary" Lev. 20:3)
- 527. Beginning with הָּי מָלְינוּ עֶלְיוּ (e.g. מַה־הוּא כִּי תַּלִּינוּ עֶלְיוּ "What is he with the result that you grumble at him?" 1 Kgs. 3:12)

G. CONCESSIVE CLAUSES (although)

AC: 5.2.12

G: 160

J: 171

528. Circumstantial (e.g. אָד אָהַרְתִּיךּ וְלִבְּךּ אָדן אָהָר "How can you say, 'I love you,' although your heart is not with me?" Judg. 16:15)

G: 141e, 142d, 156f

J: 171f

- 529. Beginning with אָם־צָדַקְתִּי לֹא אֶעֶנֶה "Although I am in the right, I cannot answer." Job 9:15)
- 530. Beginning with נָם כִּי־אֵלֶךְ בְּנֵיא צֵלְכְּטֶת (e.g. נָם כִּי־אֵלֶךְ בְּנֵיא צֵלְכְּטֶת "even though I walk in a very dark valley" Ps. 23:4)
- 531. Beginning with עַל לא־הַמָּס עָשָה (e.g. עַל לא־הָמָס עָשֶׂה "although he did no violence" Isa. 53:9)

532. Beginning with בְּדַבְּרָה אֶּלֹ־יוֹסֵך יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם יוֹם "although she spoke to Joseph day after day" Gen. 39:10)

H. CAUSAL CLAUSES (because)

AC: 5.2.5 G: 158 J: 170 W: 38.4

- 533. Beginning with בִּי־מֶלְאָה הָאָרֶץ הָמָס (e.g. בְּי־מֶלְאָה הָאָרֶץ הָאָרֶץ הָאָרֶץ הָאָרֶץ "because the earth is full of violence" Gen. 6:13)
- 534. Beginning with פַאֲשֶׁר יְבוּן, בְּאֲשֶׁר יְבוּן, מָאֲשֶׁר/מָן מָבְּעָל מָבְּנֵי , מַבְּשֶׁר יְבוּן, סִר סָב , סִר סָב , סִר סָב , סִר סִבּ , סִר סִבּ (e.g. בּאֲשֶׁר יְהוָה אָתּוֹ) יbecause YHWH was with him" Gen. 39:23)

AC: 5.2.5a G: 158b

J: 104b, 170g

V: 40.9.I.3 note 55

W: 38.4a

535. An infinitive construct preceded by בְּן, יַשַן, or עַל (e.g. מִיִּרְאָתוֹ "because of his fear of him" 2 Sam. 3:11)

I. RELATIVE CLAUSES (that, which, who)

AC: 5.2.13 G: 138, 155

J: 38, 145, 158

W: 19

- 536. Beginning with אָהְוֹיִי (e.g. עַם־זוּ יָצַרְהִּי לִּי a people whom I formed for myself" Isa. 43:21)
- 537. Beginning with יַּשֶׁ (e.g. הָאַרְנָּמְן שֶׁעֵּל מַלְכֵי מְדְיָן "the purple robes *that were on the kings of Midian*" Judg. 8:26)
- 538. Beginning with אֲשֶׁר עָּלְיו (e.g. הַמְּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר אַהָּה ייthe place on which you are standing" Ex. 3:5)
- 539a. Beginning with a participle (e.g. וְאֶל־מֶלֶךְ יְהוּדָה הַשֹּׁלֵחַ אָּהְכֶם "but to the king of Judah who sent you" 2 Kgs. 22:18)

V: 36.3.4 W: 19.7a

- 539b. Beginning with an article on a finite verb (e.g. אֱלֹהֵי יִשֶּׂרְאֵל הַגּּרְאָה אֱלִיו "the God of Israel who had appeared to him" 1 Kgs. 11:9)
- 540. Paratactic or asyndetic, with no marker (e.g. צור חָסְיוּ בוֹ "the rock *in which they sought refuge*" Deut. 32:37)

G: 155e-m J: 158a-db W: 19.6

J. INTERROGATIVE CLAUSES

AC: 5.3.1

G: 100i-n, 107t, 150, 151a-b J: 37, 102i, 144, 154g, 155l, 161

V: 43

W: 18, 31.4f, 40.3

541. Direct question with the interrogative particleם, meaning "?" (e.g. הֲהַחַת אֱלֹהִים אָנִי (a.g. הֲהַחַת "Am I in God's place?" Gen. 15:19)

AC: 5.3.1a G: 150b-h J: 161a

V: 43.2.1

W: 18.1c, 40.3b

542. Direct question without any marker, meaning "?" (e.g. יַאֹמֶר שָׁלֹם בּוֹאֶךּ "He said, 'Do you come in peace?' " 1 Sam. 16:4)

AC: 5.3.1

G: 150a-b

J: 161a

V: 43.2.2

W: 40.3b

543. Indirect question with מָ or אָם, meaning "whether" (e.g. יַאֹמֶר שָׁלֹם בּוֹאֶּךְ "He said, 'Do you come in peace?" 1 Sam. 16:4)

AC: 4.3.2g, 5.3.1d

G: 150i

J: 161f

V: 43.2.1(ii)c

544. Disjunctive question with אָם...הֶּלְיָאִם/הָא, meaning "whether...or" (e.g. הָּחָזָק הוּא הֲרֶפֶּה "whether it is strong or weak" Num. 13:18)

AC: 5.3.1b

J: 161e

V: 43.2.1(ii)b

W: 40.3b

545. Question with an interrogative pronoun or adverb, such as מָּד ,אָן אֶּדְ , אָן מָד , סֹר , סִר , סַר , אַן

K. DESIRE CLAUSES

AC: 5.3.3

G: 151

J: 163

V: 45.3

W: 40.2.2d

- 546. Jussive or cohorative, meaning "let, may" (e.g. יְקֶם יְהוָה אֶּת־דְּבֶּרוֹ "May YHWH establish his word!" 1 Sam. 1:23)
- 547. Beginning with מִי־יִתּן, meaning "if only, oh that, would that" (e.g. מִי יַתַּן בִּשְׁאוֹל תַּצְבָּנֵנִי "Would that you would hide me in Sheol!" Job 14:13)

AC: 5.3.3b

G: 151a-d

J: 163d

V: 43.3.1(iv), 45.3(ii)

W: 40.2.2d

- 548. Beginning with לּוּ שְׁקוֹל יַשְׁקֵל בַּנְשִיי (e.g. לּוּ שְׁקוֹל יִשְׁקֵל בַּנְשִיי "If only my grief could be weighted out!" Job 6:2)
- 549. Beginning with אַחֲלֵי/אָחֲלֵי, meaning "if only" (e.g. אַחֲלֵי יַפֿנוּ דְרָכָי "If only my ways would be established!" Ps. 119:5)

G: 151e

J: 163c

V: 45.3(i)

- 550. Beginning with אָם meaning "if only" (e.g. אָם רְשָׁע "If only you would kill the wicked, O God!" Ps. 139:19)
- 551. Verbless, meaning "may it be!" (e.g. מֶר הַגַּל הַאֶּה "May this heap be a witness!" Gen. 31:52)

AC: 5.3.3c

G: 116r note, 141f

J: 163b

L. ADVERSATIVE CLAUSES (but)

AC: 4.5.2(c.6), 5.2.10

G: 163a-b J: 123i, 172 W: 39.3.5d-e

- 552. Beginning with ְ (e.g. לֹא שָׁאַלְתְּ נֶפֶּשׁ אֹיָבֶיךּ וְשָׁאַלְתְּ לְּךְּ הָבִין "You did not ask for the life of your enemies, but you asked for yourself understanding." 1 Kgs. 3:11)
- 553. Beginning with אוּלְם אוּלְם (e.g. אָמֶבְרְתִּיךְ 'But for this reason I caused you to stand." Ex. 9:16)

AC: 5.2.10 J: 172b

W: 39.3.5e

554. Beginning with אֲבָל (e.g. אֲבְל הָים הָעֱלָה דְוִיד "But David had brought up the ark of God." 2 Chr. 1:4)

AC: 5.2.10 V: 40.2.1

W: 39.3.5e

555. Beginning with בי אָם or בּי אָם after a negative (e.g. לֹא בִּי אָם־מֶּלֶךְ יִהְיֶה עֶלֵינוּ "No! But a king will reign over us!" 1 Sam. 8:19)

M. EXCEPTIVE CLAUSES (unless, except that)

AC: 5.2.7 G: 163c-d J: 173a-b W: 38.6

556. Beginning with בִּי אָם־בַּרַכְּחָנִי (e.g. לֹא אֲשֵׁלַחֲךּ כִּי אָם־בַּרַכְחָנִי "I will not let you go *unless you have blessed me.*" Gen. 32:27)

AC: 4.3.4m, 5.2.7

G: 163c-d J: 173b W: 38.6

557. Beginning with בְּלְתִּי אָחִיכֶם אָהְכֶם (e.g. לֹא־תָרְאוּ פָּנֵי בִּלְתִּי אֲחִיכֶם אָהְכֶם "You will not see my face unless your brother is with you." Gen. 43:3)

N. RESTRICTIVE CLAUSES (nevertheless, but)

AC: 5.2.7-5.2.8

G: 153 J: 173a-b W: 39.3.5

- 558. Beginning with אֶּבֶּס כִּי־עַז הָעָם הַיּשֵׁב בָּאָרֶץ (e.g. אֶבֶּס כִּי־עַז הָעָם הַיּשֵׁב ("Nevertheless, the people who dwell in the land are strong." Num. 13:28)
- 559. Beginning with אַך (e.g. עֲשִׁי לִי מִשֶּׁם עָנָה "Do as you said; but [first] make a bread cake from it for me." 1 Kgs. 17:13)
- 560. Beginning with רָק (e.g. רָק לְאֲנָשִׁים הָאֵל אֵל־הַּעֲשׂוּ דְבֶר "But do not do anything to these men." Gen. 19:8)

O. EQUATIONAL CLAUSES (is)

AC: 5.1.1

J: 154

V: 12.4.3, 44.4.3

W: 8.4

562. With a substantive for a predicate (e.g. לא־נָבִים אָנֹכִי "I am not a prophet." Amos 7:14)

AC: 5.1.1a

G: 141b

J: 154d

V: 34.3

W: 4.5c, 8.3c

- 563. With a predicate adjective (e.g. רְעַחְכֶם רַבְּה "Your wickedness is great." 1 Sam. 12:17)
- 564. With the preposition הְ of identity (e.g. אֱלֹהֵי אָבִי בְּעֶזְרִי "The God of my father was my help." Amos Ex. 18:4)
- 565. With a prepositional phrase as the predicate (e.g. רְבָקָה לְבָּנֶיךְ "Rebekah is before you." Gen. 24:51)

AC: 5.1.1d

G: 141b

J: 154d

V: 32.2.1

W: 4.5c

566. With an adverb as the predicate (e.g. זֶבֶח הַיָּמִים שָׁם "*The yearly sacrifice is there*." 1 Sam. 20:6)

G: 141b J: 154d W: 4.5c

P. EXISENTIAL CLAUSES (there is)

AC: 5.3.4 V: 42

567. With הָיָה (e.g. לָּא־הָיָה שָׁם לֶּחֶם "There was no bread there." 1 Sam. 21:7)

AC: 5.3.4a J: 154m-na

568-9a. With אָין or אָין/אַין (e.g. הָּהָה בַּמְּקוֹם הַהָּה "Truly YHWH is in this place." Gen. 28:16)

569b. With אָפֶס עָצוּר וְאָפֶּס עָזוּב "There was neither bound nor free." 2 Kgs. 14:26)

Q. WORD ORDER

AC: 5.1.2b

G: 1411-n, 142f-g

J: 154d

V: 46-47

W: 8.4, 9.1c

570. Word order is important to Hebrew syntax.

Word order in verbal clauses

AC: 5.1.2b

G: 142f-g

J: 155k-t

V: 46.1

571. A verbal clause has a finite verb

G: 140b

J: 153

572a. The normal order for verbal clauses is verb + subject + direct object + adverb or prepositional phrase (e.g. נְיָבֵא יוֹסֵךְ אֶת־דְּבָּחְם רְעָה אֶל־אֲבִיהֶם "Joseph brought a bad report about them to their father." Gen. 37:2)

AC: 5.1.2(b.1)

G: 142f

J: 155k

V: 46.1.1, 46.1.3(iii)a

W: 8.3b

572b. An expression of time usually comes first, before the verb (e.g. בָּעֵת הַהִּיא אָמַר יְהוָה "at that time, YHWH said...." Josh. 5:2)

AC: 5.1.2(b.1)

G: 142g

V: 46.1.2(i)4

572c. A word that negates the verb usually precedes the verb (e.g. לֹא הִמְטִיר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים "YHWH God had *not* caused rain." Gen. 2:5)

V: 46.1.2(i)2, 46.1.3(i)b

572d. The direct object may precede the subject (e.g. יְלֹאׁ־נְשָׂא אֹחֶם הָאָרֶץ "The land was not able to support *them*." Gen. 13:6)

G: 142f

V: 46.1.3(ii)a

572e. A preposition with a pronominal suffix may precede the subject (e.g. יַּיֹאמֶר לָהֶם יוֹסֵף "Joseph said *to them*" Gen. 44:15)

J: 155t

V: 46.3.1(ii)s

573a. The subject may precede the verb to focus attention on the subject (e.g. הַנְּחָשׁ הַשִּׁיאַנִי "The snake deceived me." Gen. 3:13)

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

J: 155nb

V: 47.2(i)

573b. The subject may precede the verb to contrast the subject (e.g. אַבֶּרֶם יָשַׁב בְּאֶבֶין־כְּנָעַן "Abram dwelt in the land of Canaan." Gen. 13:12)

J: 155nb

V: 47.2(ii)e

573c. The subject may precede the verb when the subject has changed (e.g. וְרִבְקָה אָמְרָה "Rebekah said to her son Jacob" Gen. 27:6)

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

V: 47.2(ii)

573d. The subject may precede the verb to express anterior time (e.g. וְיַשֶּלְב הָּקְע אֶח־אָהֵלוֹ "Jacob had pitched his tent." Gen. 31:25)

V: 47.2(iii)

- 573e. The subject may precede the verb to indicate the simultaneous actions (e.g. הוּא־בָּא "As he entered Lehi, the Philistines came shouting to meet him." Judg. 15:14)
- 573f. A long subject may precede the verb as a nominative absolute (e.g. אָישׁ הָאֱלֹהִים אָשֶׁר "The man of God whom you sent may he come." Judg. 13:8)
- 573g. An interrogative pronoun precedes the verb (e.g. מֶּי יַשֶּלֶה־לְּנוּ "Who will go up for us?" Judg. 1:1)

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

V: 46.1.2(ii)a

573h. A subject may precede the verb in poetry for reason of style

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

J: 155nd

V: 46.1.2(i)6

574a. The direct object may precede the verb to focus attention on it (e.g. אָת־קֹלְךּ שָׁמֵעְהִי "I heard *your sound* in the garden." Gen. 3:10)

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

G: 142f

J: 1550

574b. An interrogative pronoun direct object precedes the verb (e.g. יְאֶת־מִי עָשַׁקְהִי "Whom have I wronged?" 1 Sam. 12:3)

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

V: 46.1.2(ii)a

- 574c. A long direct object may precede the verb (e.g. אֶּת־אֲשֶׁר יֹאמַר יֱהְוָה אֵלֵי אֹתוֹ אֲדֵבֶּר "Whatever YHWH says to me - that I will speak." 1 Kgs. 22:14) J:156c
- 575a. A prepositional phrase may precede the verb to put it in focus (e.g. בַּיבָּשָה עָבַר יִשְׂרָאֵל "On dry ground Israel passed over the Jordan." Josh. 4:22) J: 155p
- 575b. A prepositional phrase may precede the verb for contrast (e.g. וַיִּקְרָא אֱלֹהִים לְאוֹר יוֹם God called the light 'day,' and *the darkness* he called 'night.' "
 Gen. 1:5)
- 575c. A long object on a preposition may precede the verb (e.g. הַמְּטָה אֲשֶׁר־עָּלִיתְ שָׁם לֹא־חֵבר "The bed on which you went up you will not come down from it." 2 Kgs. 1:4)
- 576. Inverted word order in an adverbial clause of manner (e.g. אָישׁ לְפִּי־אָכְלוֹ לְקְמֵוּ "by

everyone gathering according to his eating" Ex. 16:18)

Word Order in Verbless Clauses

AC: 5.1.1

G: 1411-n, 140a

J: 153, 154a, f-j

V: 46.2

W: 8.4

577. Two major categories of verbless clauses: some *identify the subject* and some *describe or classify the subject*

J: 154ea

W: 8.4a

578. Subject first in verbless clauses that identify the subject (e.g. יְהוָה הוֹא נַחֲלֶּחוֹ "YHWH is his inheritance." Deut. 18:2)

AC: 5.1.1

G: 1411

V: 46.2.1

W: 8.4a, 8.4.1

579. Predicate first in verbless clause that classify or describe the subject (e.g. אָּחֵי הוא "He *is a brother of mine.*" Gen. 20:5)

AC: 5.1.1

G: 1411-m

V: 46.2.2, 47.3

W: 8.4a, 8.4.2

- 580. Word order in verbless desire clauses
- 581. Interrogative words normally come first in a clause (e.g. מַה־שְׁמוֹ "What is his name?" Ex. 3:13)

AC: 5.1.2(b.2)

G: 1411

V: 46.1.2(ii)a

582. Subject precedes predicate in circumstantial clauses

R. ELLIPSIS

AC: 5.3.6

583. Omission of a substantive in a comparison (e.g. בְּלֵי בָּאַיָלוֹת "He makes my feet like [the feet of] the does." Ps. 18:34)

AC: 5.3.6a

- 584. Omission of a predicate adjective in a comparison (e.g. יְמָנְּחֵ יָקִים יָקִים יְקוֹם "And your life will rise [greater] than noonday." Job 11:17)
- 585. Omission of a pronoun
- 586. Omission of a pronoun that is the subject of an infinitive (e.g. בַּהֲבַּדְּ אֶת־הֶעָרִים "when [he] overthrew the cities" Gen. 19:29)

AC: 5.3.6b

- 587. Omission of a pronoun that is the subject of a participle (e.g. וְהָנֵה עמֶד עֵל־הַנְּמֶלִּים "And behold, [he] was standing beside the camels." Gen. 24:30)
 AC: 5.3.6b
- 588. Omission of a pronoun that is the direct object of a verb (e.g. וַיָּבֵא אֶל־הָאָדָם "He brought [them] to the man." Gen. 2:19)

AC: 5.3.6b

589. Omission the expected direct object of a verb

V: 33.1 note 42

590. Omission of a word after a numeral

AC: 5.3.6c

591. Omission of a verb that is clear from the context (e.g. אָבִי יַפַּר אֶחְכֶם בַּשׁוֹמִים וַאֲנִי "My father *disciplined* you with whips, but I [will discipline you] with scorpions." 2 Chr. 10:11, 14)

W: 11.4.3d

- 592. Omissions frequently occur with negatives
- 593. Omission with the negative אֵין/אֵין (e.g. אָין מֵתָה אָנֹכִי (five me children, or else, if [I do] not [get them], I will die!" Gen. 30:1)

 AC: 5.3.6d
- 594. Omission with the negative לֹא כִּי צָּחָקְהָּ. "He said, 'No, but you did laugh.'" Gen. 18:15)

AC: 5.3.6d

595. Omission with the negative אֵל נְּנֹתֵי (e.g. אֵל בְּנֹתִי "No, my daughters, [do not return with me to my people]." Ruth 1:13)

AC: 5.3.6d

596. Omission of the oath formula (e.g. וְעֵרָה הָמַצֵּבָה אָם־אָנִי לֹא־אָעֵבֹר אָבִי לֹא־אָעֵבֹר יִי "May the pillar

be a witness *if I do not pass over to you*." Gen. 31:52) J: 165h

597. Omission of the conclusion of a statement (e.g. אָם־הָּשֶׁי מְחָנִי נָא מְסָבְּרְךְּ "If you will forgive their sin, [then do so], but if not, then wipe me out of your book!" Ex. 32:32)

G: 167a J: 167r

598. Omission of every word except one (e.g. וַיֹּאמֶר עֵד "He said, '[YHWH is] a witness.' " 1 Sam. 12:5)

G: 152c